

UNITED NATIONS MEDITATION ROOM

THE TEMPLE OF UNDERSTANDING THE GREAT SEAL OF THE UNITED STATES THE PRAYER ROOM IN THE UNITED STATES CAPITOL





## THE NEW AGE



Masonic Symbols In a \$1 Bill

13 leaves in the olive branches

- 13 bars and stripes in the shield
- 13 feathers in the tail
- 13 arrows
- 13 letters in the "E Pluribus Unum" on the ribbon
- 13 stars in the green crest above
- 32 long feathers representing the 32° in Masonry
- 13 granite stones in the Pyramid with the Masonic "All-seeing Eye" completing it.
- 13 letters in Annuit Coeptis, "God has prospered."
- On the front of the dollar bill is the seal of the United States made up of a key, square, and the Scales of Justice, as well as a compass which, of course, is an important symbol in Masonry. James B, Walker 31°

THE OFFICIAL ORGAN OF THE SUPREME COUNCIL 33" ANCIENT & ACCEPTED SCOTTISH RITE OF FREEMASONRY SOUTHERN JURISDICTION UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

> 1733 Sixteenth Street, N. W. Washington, D.C.

(See page 27, 4th paragraph)

# THE CULT of the ALL-SEEING EYE

By Robert Keith Spenser



## Published by

OMNI PUBLICATIONS P. D, BOX 900566 PALMDALE, CA 93590

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Daga
INTRODUCTION	Page
PART I	
THE UNITED NATIONS MEDITATION ROOM	_
The Altar	
The Mural	
The Room of Stillness	-
Lodestone	
Friends of the Meditation Room	
The Cornerstone	
The Secret of the Mural	
The Tetragrammaton	
The Sephiroth	
The Secret of the Room	
Conclusion	
Appendix	
Sources	21
PART II	
THE GREAT SEAL OF THE UNITED STATES The Great Seal on the Dollar Bill	24 _26 _26 .27
The All-Seeing Eye a Symbol of Osiris	
The Sun and the Serpent	
The Cao Dai God Symbol: The All-Seeing Eye	35
Sources	38
PART III	
THE PRAYER ROOM IN THE UNITED STATES CAPITOL	41
PART IV	
THE TEMPLE OF UNDERSTANDING	42
The New Cult in Washington*	43
Project Understanding*	45
The Temple a "Spiritual United Nations"	
The Universal Theocralic State*	
List of Directors of Temple	
List of Sponsors, by Nations Index of Individuals and General Index	55 50
muex of mulviduals and General muex	20

\*Articles by Edith Kermit Roosevelt

## LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

The United Nations Meditation RoomColor plate on front cov	ver
The Temple of Understanding Two views on back cov	/er
The United Nations Meditation Room	6
The Mural in the Meditation Room	16
The Great Seal of the United StatesObverse and reverse aides	22
The National Coat of Arms on U.S. Postage	28
The National Coat of Arms in St. Paul's Chapel	30
The Constellation in The Crest of The Coat of Arms	31
The Cao Dai God Symbol: The All-Seeing Eye	37
The Prayer Room in the United States Capitol	40

#### INTRODUCTION

The Cult of the All-Seeing Eye has existed under many names and guises for thousands of years. Through the ages its high priests have worshipped before unhallowed altars dedicated to the adoration of a nameless deity — an Unknown God. The identity of this deity has been concealed behind an elaborate system of veiled allegories and secret symbols. Followers of this pseudomystical, humanistic, occult system of beliefs affirm, without proof, that it is based on an unbroken oral tradition handed down from an ancient priesthood in Egypt.

The Cult projects a minimum belief in a god which totally excludes God, The Divine Redeemer, and which rejects Jesus Christ, the Son of God. Its leaders tell its initiates that the doctrine of the Cull is based on a hidden master religion in which all men can agree because it is founded on pre-Christian, pagan models that appear not to be in conflict with reputable faiths.

This offspring of the ancient idolatrous mystery cults has existed in America for centuries, but its leaders have never dared to admit that they hope to replace Christianity with the Cult. However, in recent years, they have dared to establish small, public temples in the United States: namely, the Meditation Rooms in the United Nations and at Wainwright House, Rye, New York, and the Prayer Room in the U.S. Capitol. Their great Temple of Understanding is soon to be erected in Washington, D.C.

The strange, fascinating history of the Great Seal of the United Slates was included in this study because the symbolism of the three Rooms and the Temple is centered around the All-Seeing Eye which appears on the reverse side of the Seal as depicted on the one dollar bill.

The Cult is seeking to obliterate the Christian ideal by attempting to destroy all honoured standards and traditions set up during the past nineteen centuries for the protection of the civilized world. The lure of famous names associated with the Cult has drawn many naive supporters into its fold who would recoil in horror from its evil teachings were the truth only known to them.

The secret doctrine of the Cult has been carefully guarded from public scrutiny and investigation. Nevertheless, this study cuts to the very heart of the meaning of that doctrine and the symbolism employed by the Cult. It uncovers the trail of the serpent. It arms Christians with the knowledge they must have if they are to detect and destroy this insidious menace which threatens the very foundation of Christian civilization.



#### PART I

#### The United Nations Meditation Room

The Meditation Room is 30 feet long, 18 wide at the entrance (which faces north north-east), and 9 wide at the other end. It is therefore wedge-shaped. Its only entrance is through two tinted glass-paned doors outside of which stands a U.N. guard. Inside the room is another guard. Once through the doors, the visitor finds himself in a darkened corridor which leads to the left. The sharp transition from a world of light to one of extreme darkness forces a feeling of abrupt withdrawal from the outside world upon the senses of the visitor who walks along the corridor, reaches the inner arched entrance, turns right, and looks into the room.

The room is very dimly lit. The only source of light, at first glance, is that which is reflected squarely from the gleaming upper surface of the brooding, somber altar in the center of the room. A special lens recessed in the ceiling focuses a beam of light on the altar from a point above and just beyond its far edge. Thin lines of bluish light lap the edges of the shadow cast by the altar.

The acoustical properties of the room are unique. The edges of padding material behind the paneling on the walls can be detected at the ceiling level. This absorbs sound as does the Swedish-woven blue rug which covers the floor of the corridor and the back of the room. The room is as quiet as an underground tomb. Its floor is paved with blue-gray slate slabs laid in a haphazard pattern. At the edge of the rug are two very low railings extending out from the east and west walls of the room. The center space between the railings is some six feet in width. To the right of the inner entrance are ten low wicker benches arranged in two rows of three and one back row of four against the corridor wall. Attempts by visitors to pass the railings are discouraged by the guard.

The mural is a fresco which was painted originally on wet plaster one section at a time by the artist with the aid of an expert in this work brought from Europe. It is set into a steel-framed narrow panel projected from the wall, behind which is an enclosed area some six inches deep which has its own light source. A small, square projector set close against the front base of the altar throws a diffused beam of light from a recessed aperture upon the surface of the mural. There are also ten hidden lights, five on each side of the room, behind the upper edges of a thin suspended ceiling which extends out over the room from the top of the mural. The 18 inch space between the two ceilings contains the light control apparatuses. The lower ceiling is wedge-shaped and separated from three walls of the inner room by a footwide space. Thus the room appears to be much longer than it really is because of the many converging lines leading into the narrow end, the corners of which are rounded off on either side of the mural.

#### THE ALTAR

The altar is four feet high and rests on two narrow cross pieces. It is a dark gray block of crystalline iron ore from a Swedish mine and weighs six and one-half tons. The Swedish Government presented this block of ore — the largest of its kind ever mined — to the U.N. in early 1957. "The chunk rests on a concrete pillar that goes straight down to bed-rock."<sup>1</sup> The area and passageway beneath the room are closed to the public.

The chunk of ore has been described as a lodestone, or magnetite, which is strongly magnetic and which possesses polarity. "In northern Sweden are what may the the largest magnetite deposits in the world, believed to have been formed by segregation in the magma."<sup>2</sup> Magma is the term for molten material held in solution under the pressure of the earth's crust.

#### THE MURAL

The fresco mural was described in the UN Review of January 1958 as having been designed "to conform with the purity of line and color sought, for what Secretary General Dag Hammarskjold has called 'a room of stillness'." It was painted predominately in shades of grays and blues but includes yellow and white patterns and a black half-sphere. Light pure colors intersect to form deeper shades. The New York Times<sup>3</sup> described the fresco as being eight feet eight inches in height and six feet eight inches in width; more brightly illuminated at the top than at the bottom.

Bo Beskow, an old friend of Dag Hammarskjold, painted the mural. "Dag had me start sketches on this last summer," he said. "He wanted me to do the actual work right here in the room, so I have been here since October 6 [1957]." The mural was seen for the first lime on November 11, 1957. During the period of the remodeling the guards were on hand during the day to keep out the curious and at night the room was locked up with a chain and padlock. The artist said of his work, "It has no title, and you can make what you wish of it."

He explained that the geometric patterns in the mural repeated the proportions of the room and those of the focal point of the room, the piece of iron ore. He also said that he intended to give a feeling of space with the picture. The UN Review story stated that "he sought to open up the room so that the eye can travel in the distance when it strikes the wall. To give a slight upward movement, he said he designed winding circles and a spiraling diagonal line which might be compared to a vibrating musical chord. As a 'resting spot' for the viewer's eyes, he provided one spot of black amid the light colors, a half circle at which all lines of the fresco and the room converge."

In the New Yorker story cited earlier (see sources), Beskow was quoted as saying: "My fresco contained no intentional symbols, though I've heard people say that the black-and-pale-blue circle in the upper middle section of the panel stands for the cosmos. All that I seriously sought to do was to open up the wall, in order to let the eye travel farther, and to open up the mind, provoking meditation but not directing it." (All emphasis supplied.) The mystic, P. D. Ouspensky, has written<sup>4</sup> that in "real art nothing is accidental. It is mathematics. Everything in it can be calculated, everything can be known beforehand. The artist knows and understands what he wants to convey and his work cannot produce one impression on one man and another impression on another, presuming, of course, [they are] people on one level. ... At the same time the same work of art will produce different impressions on people of different levels. And people from lower levels will never receive from it what people of higher levels receive. This is real, objective art. ... An objective work of art ... affects the emotional and not only the intellectual side of man." (His emphasis.)

Mr. Beskow's picture is described as nonobjective, yet its composition admittedly reflects the dimensions of the room and the chunk of iron ore — this involves mathematics. He said of his mural, "you can make what you wish of it," yet he admittedly sought to create a specific subjective effect in the mind of the spectator. Consequently, Mr. Beskow's remarks create confusion rather than understanding.

#### THE ROOM OF STILLNESS'

The leaflet made available to those who visit the Meditation Room was written under the direction of Dag Hammarskjold. Its description of the room is deliberately couched in abstruse language. It contains terms which have meaning to the esoterically inclined but not to the uninitiated. These terms will be explained in later sections of this study.

The leaflet reads: "We all have within us a center of stillness surrounded by silence. . . . People of many faiths will meet here, and for that reason none of the symbols to which we are accustomed in our meditation could be used.

"However, there are simple things which speak to us all with the same language. We have sought for such things and we believe that we have found them in the shaft of light striking the shimmering surface of solid rock.

"So, in the middle of the room we see a symbol of how, daily, the light of the skies gives life to the earth on which we stand, a symbol to many of us of how the light of the spirit gives life to matter.

"But the stone in the middle of the room has more to tell us. We may see it as an altar, empty not because there is no God, not because it is an altar to an unknown god, but because it is dedicated to the God whom man worships under many names and in many forms.

"The stone in the middle of the room reminds us also of the firm and permanent in a world of movement and change. The block of iron ore has the weight and solidity of the everlasting. It is a reminder of that cornerstone of endurance and faith on which all human endeavor must be based.

"The material of the stone leads our thoughts to the necessity for choice between destruction and peace. Of iron man has forged his swords, of iron he has also made his ploughshares....

"The shaft of light strikes the stone in a room of utter simplicity. . . When our eyes travel from these symbols to the front wall, they meet a simple pattern opening up the room to the harmony, freedom and balance of apace.

"There is an ancient [Chinese] saying that the sense of a vessel is not in its shell but in the void. So it is with this room. It is for those who come here to fill the void with what they find in their center of stillness." (Emphasis supplied.)

#### LODESTONE

The World Goodwill Bulletin is published by Lucis Press Ltd. (owned by Lucis Trust) at 88 Edgware Rd.. Marble Arch, London W-2, England. The New York branch, the Lucis Publishing Company (11 W. 42nd St., 32nd floor), issues materials on its Arcane School, three-member Triangles, and World Service Fund, and publishes the Beacon Magazine. This company was originally established as the Lucifer Publishing Co., but changed its name on Nov. 11, 1924 to the less startling one it bears today. A third branch of the Lucis Trust is located at 1 Rue de Varembe (3E), Geneva, Switzerland. Alice A. Bailey, the now deceased High Priestess of the occult Arcane School, established and headed the Trust and its self-identified Society of Illumined Minds. This powerful group has intimate connections with the United Nations.

The World Goodwill Bulletin issued a special edition on the United Nations in July, 1957, which contained an article entitled "Lodestone." We quote from its description of the Meditation Room: "The visitor will be totally unprepared for what he will see as he steps in the door for a moment of quiet. . . . Because of the converging walls and the dim light, he will experience a peculiar spatial disorientation, and dimension and perspective will seem difficult to establish. In the center of the room, he will see, illuminated by a single point of light from the ceiling, a rectangular mass. . . .

"The ore piece ... is many millions of years old ... one feels ... as though one is in a repository for some natural talisman of significant and noble importance rather than in a chapel in the ordinary sense. ... Those who are wedded to seeking communion in traditional settings may be somewhat ill at ease here. This is a sudden break with prior experience. One is thrown violently upon his |own] resources.

"The room and the concept do not seem indicative of the supplications or the dualistic concept of the mystic in which illumination is sought as a boon granted by Deity. Rather, seemingly inherent in the decoration of the room, in the pinpoint of light playing on the ore, is the concept of a personal concentration of forces, creating a focus that illumines the field of attention....

"The pinpoint of light, the void of space, the illuminated crystalline ore — one feels projected into a setting of cosmological symbolism rather than one of planetary or even solar intent.

"It is interesting to speculate on what the long-term influence of this 'new departure' will be on current religious thinking. Ensconced here in the highest Hall Of Man, it cannot be inconsiderable. Whatever interpretations one may attribute to the United Nations Meditation Room, it can be said with certainty that the words and the repercussions have only just begun." (Emphasis supplied.)

The 'new departure' in religion referred to did not occur by chance-Tremendous pressure was brought to bear on Trygve Lie and Dag Hammarskjold to install such a room at the U.N. by such organizations as the World Council of Churches." Trygve Lie announced on April 18, 1949, that such a room would be established.<sup>6</sup> The 5th General Assembly opened with one minute of silence as a "religious" observance. Shortly thereafter a temporary meditation room was provided at Lake Success, N. Y. On February 9, 1951. a meditation room was opened for one day at the U.N. Secretariat building. On October 14. 1952, the opening day of the 7th General Assembly, a permanent Meditation Room was made available to the public. Since then each Assembly has opened with one minute of silence.

In 1955<sup>7</sup> the Meditation Room contained a 300-year old, 800-pound, 37inch wide upright section of an agba (mahogany) tree from French Equatorial Africa. It was the idea of Wallace Harrison, director of the international board of architects which planned the U.N.; co-architect and director of Rockefeller Center; and member of the board of directors of the socialist New School of Social Research in New York City (See Who's Who In America, 1959.) The room contained a philodendron plant on the altar, to symbolize some unknown person killed in a war; an olive green rug; 25 russet-colored chairs; and a blue and while U.N. banner set in front of a ceiling-to-floor white drape.

#### FRIENDS OP THE MEDITATION ROOM

On February 16, 1953, a group known as the Friends of the Meditation Room, numhering 1500 members, presented through its officers a set of guest books to the U.N. wherein visitors to the room could inscribe their names, addresses, and religious affiliations. Three and one half to four million visitors have been estimated by the U.N. to have entered the room from October 11, 1952 to June 1963. Over 750,000 of these visitors have signed 108 of these books, each containing 7.000 names.

What purpose is served by the accumulation of these thousands of names of individuals, with their religious affiliations, who visit the room and who— by the act of signing their names — indicate that they do not object to the existence of this pagan temple?

The Friends are a product of the "non-sectarian" Laymen's Movement for a Christian World, Inc.. the international headquarters of which is located at Wainwright House, Milton Point, Rye, New York. Warren R. Austin, a past permanent U.S. delegate to the U.N., headed a Friend's committee which presented \$12,600 to Hammarskjold on April 24, 1957, as first payment on \$25,000 needed to remodel and enlarge the room.<sup>8</sup>

The Movement has issued "U.N. Meditation Room Identification Cards [to] 300 men and women who go periodically to this room for prayer." (See UN Room, by this group. I It once issued Prayer Cards to visitors containing Prayers from the "World's Great Living Religions." namely, Hinduism, Buddhism. Judaism, Islamism, Sikhism, Christianity and St. Francis of Assisi(!). The Friends held Vigils of Prayer in the room in 1953 and 1954. Back in 1946 the Movement had sent Dr. Frank Laubach, Union Theological Seminary graduate and author of "Letters of a Modern Mystic," to the Paris Peace Conference to lobby for the establishment of the Meditation Room. Speakers for the Movement's meetings have included Norman Cousins, Ralph Bunche and Frank P. Graham of the U.N., and William Ernest Hocking and Kirtley F. Mather of Harvard, all of whom have communist-front records (see May-June and July-August 1059 and July-August 1962 issues of The Laymen's Movement Review).

The Movement has included among its members Dwight D. Eisenhower {Ibid., July-August 1961 (. The most important Friend of the Movement from its inception, however, has been John I). Rockefeller, Jr. A Methodist missionary, Weyman C. Huckabee, secured and received grants from John D. Rockefeller. Jr.'s Davison Fund and from his (New York City) Riverside Church funds for five consecutive years (1937-41), for a health center in Hiroshima. Japan (Ibid., May-June 1960). Huckabee then became the secretary of the Movement in New York in 1941 and secured two grants a year for the organization from the Davison Fund until it was liquidated. Thereafter, Rockefeller continued his yearly grants without fail from his own personal funds. During the 22 years Huckabee remained with the Movement a million dollars was raised for its work (Ibid., July-August 1962).

When the Movement first sought to secure Wainwright House for its headquarters in 1951, John D. Rockefeller. Jr., gave \$5,000.00 of the 825,000.00 needed (Ibid., May-June 1961). Since 1951, 10,000 individuals have signed the guest book at Wainwright House; 5,000 have attended its public meetings; its members have been addressed by the President of the National Council of Churches, J. Irwin Miller (Ibid., May-June 1962); its conference rooms have been used by the Episcopal, Presbyterian, Methodist, Baptist, Congregationalist, and Quaker churches (Ibid., January-February 1963).

When the Friends of the Meditation Room agreed to raise \$15,000 to pay for the redecoration of the Room, John D. Rockefeller, Jr. gave \$5,000 of the amount sought (Ibid., May-June 1960). Dag Hammarskjold personally raised another \$10,000 from the Marshall Field family for the cost of the fresco in the Room (Ibid., November-December 19611. The United Steel Workers, CIO-AFL, gave \$500.00 (Ibid., July-August 1961).

The Movement was formed in 1940. The man who started it was Dr. Arthur Complon, the scientist who first brought the identified Communist and accused espionage agent. Professor J. Robert Oppenheimer, into the atomic energy project in 1942 ilbid,, July-August 1961).

Wainwright House has its own Meditation Room, on its second floor. The room contains the agba wood altar first used in the U.N. Meditation Room, and the cherry wood chairs and drapes from that room, presented to the Friends by the U.N. in 1957 (lbid., November-December 1961). The House also contains a large library centered around the Thomas Sugrue Memorial Library, a sixteen hundred dollar collection of books on religion and occult-ism — where one may read up on spiritualism, Zen, Taoism, Yoga, Judaism, etc. Every book in the library has a bookplate therein designed by the artist, Fritz Eichenberg.

His bookplate "depicts the ancient cross in the shape of a T, surrounded by a serpent symbolizing wisdom and healing, and forming the letter S. The T and S, Thomas Sugrue's initials, are crowned by the lotus, Vedantic representation of all being. In the background lies the city of Jerusalem over which shine two stars, the star of the East of Christianity and six-pointed star of Judaism. A flame spreads an arc of light above, proclaiming the continuity of life and the immortality of the soul." (Ibid., March-April 1960, pp. 6-7.)

M. Oldfield Howey tells us in The Encircled Serpent, (David Mackay Co., Philadelphia, Pa., 192-, p. 84), that in the symbolism of Egypt the "serpent is constantly represented as surmounting a cross ... the Brazen Serpent ... was a palladium or talisman in [he form of a serpent coiled around the mystic Tau, or T. [Also.] the serpent set up by Moses was originally the Egyptian ... Sun-God, who was now known to his people as Jehovah." (lbid., p. 83.) Joseph von Hammer, in The History of the Assassins (Eng. trans., 1835) explains the tau as the figure of the phallus. (See also source 9, p. 791.)

"Among the Egyptians, the lotus was the symbol of Osiris and Isis. It was esteemed a sacred ornament by the priests." (Ibid., p. 477.) The six-pointed star is the great Oriental talisman known as the Seal of Solomon. Its meaning and the identity of Osiris and Isis will be explained in Part II on the Great Seal of the United States. The arc of light on the bookplate is the En Soph, from the Cabalistic writings (mystical theosophy) which teach that it created the world by virtue of ten emanations from The Infinite One. The emanations, or Sephiroth, are arranged into a form called the Tree of Life, which in turn is vertically composed of three pillars. C. W. King, in his Gnostics, (p. 12.) states that the two outer pillars "figure largely amongst all the secret societies of modern times, and naturally so; for these illuminati have borrowed, without understanding it, the phraseology of the Cabalists." (Ibid., pp. 390-391.)

#### THE CORNERSTONE

Dag Hammarakjold called the altar a reminder of that "cornerstone ... on which all human endeavor must be based." The Meditation Room faces north north-east. To enter the room one must proceed from darkness to light. With these facts in mind note the cabalistic symbolism of the following description of the cornerstone by an authority:<sup>9</sup> "In its situation it lies between the north, the place of darkness, and the east, the place of light; and hence this position symbolizes ... progress from darkness to light, and from ignorance to knowledge. The permanence and durability of the corner-stone ... is intended [to remind us that long after our death we have within ourselves] a sure foundation of eternal life — a corner-stone of immortality — an emanation ... which pervades all nature, and which, therefore, must survive the tomb." (Emphasis supplied)

On a "higher" level of "esoteric knowledge" the metal altar or stone can be likened to the ancient Stone of Foundation, which, according to the same authority cited above, was supposed "to have been ... placed at one time within the foundations of the Temple of Solomon, and afterwards, during the building of the second Temple, transported to the Holy of Holies. It was in the form of a perfect cube, and had inscribed upon its upper face, within a delta or triangle, the sacred Tetragrammaton, or ineffable name of God." In a "scurrilous book of the Middle Ages . ,. the Life of Jesus" there waa another account of the stone: "At that time there was in the Temple the ineffable name of God, inscribed upon the Stone of Foundation." This scandalous book proceeded to state that Our Saviour "cunningly obtained a knowledge of the Tetragrammaton from the Stone of Foundation, and by its mystical influence was enabled to perform his miracles [Cf.\*Mark 3:22] ... there waa a very general prevalence among the earliest nations of antiquity of the worship of stones as the representative of Deity ... in almost every ancient temple there was a legend of a sacred or mystical stone... the mystical stone there has received the name of the 'Stone of Foundation.' "<sup>10</sup> (""And the Scribes who had come down from Jerusalem said, 'He has Beelzebub,' and, 'By the prince of devils he casts out devils.' ")

Alfred Edward Waite, in his study of the Zohar (the cabalistic textbook of the 14th century), entitled The Secret Doctrine of Israel (Occult Research Press, N. Y., 191-), wrote (p. 62) of "a mysterious stone called Schethiya" which was cast by Jehovah "into the abyss, so to form the basis of the world and give birth thereto. One might say otherwise that it was like a cubical stone or altar, for its extremity was concealed in the depth, while its surface or summit rose above the chaos. It was the central point in the immensity of the world, the cornerstone [Zohar, Pt. I, folio 231a; II, 511; Job xxxviii, 6], the tried stone, the sure foundation, but also that stone which the builders rejected."

But what, really, in the Christian meaning, is the cornerstone? Isaias said (Isa. 28, verse 16): "Therefore thus saith the Lord God: Behold I will lay a stone in the foundations of Sion, a tried stone, a corner stone, a precious stone, founded in the foundation. He that believeth, let him not hasten." The corner stone is Jesus Christ, "the stone which the builders rejected." (Cf. Ps. 118, 22; Mt. 21, 42ff; Acts 4,11; Romans 9, 33; Eph. 2, 20; 1 Pe. 2, 6ff.)

One need go no further than the inner entrance of the Meditation Room to see concrete evidence of the Godlessness of the U.N. The "stone," the metal altar, in its stark setting in that Room is in itself a symbol of idolatry. "Stone worship was perhaps the earliest form of Fetichism. . .. Eussebius cites Porphyry as saying that the ancients represented the Deity by a black stone, because his nature is obscure and inscrutable. The reader here will be reminded of the black stone, Hadsjar el Aswad, placed in the south-west corner of the Kaaba at Mecca, which was worshipped by the ancient Arabians. ... The Druids, it is well known, had no other images of their gods but cubical or sometimes columnar stones ... to use the language of Dudley, the pillar or stone 'was adapted as a symbol of strength and firmness — a symbol, also, of the divine power, and, by a ready inference, a symbol or idol of the Deity himself.'... the god Hermes [Mercury] was represented without hands or feet, being a cubical stone, because the cubical figure betokened his solidity and stability."<sup>11</sup> (Emphasis supplied)

Hammarskjold, in the speech quoted earlier, said: "In this case we wanted this massive 'altar' to give the impression of something more than temporary.... We had another idea ... we thought we could bless by our

thoughts the very material out of which arms are made." The description of the altar as a "natural talisman" by the World Goodwill group also is significant. Talisman is a term which means a stone, or other object, engraven with figures or characters to which is attributed (he occult powers of the planetary influences and celestial configurations under which it was made.

Altars, "among the ancients, were generally made of turf or stone . .. usually in a cubical form. Altars were erected long before temples."<sup>12</sup> The shaft of light upon ihe altar in the Meditation Room casts a shadow to the north. The use of the north as a symbol of darkness (is). .. a portion of the old sun worship, of which we find so many relics in Gnosticism, in Hermetic philosophy... The east was the place of the sun's daily birth, and hence highly revered; the north the place of his annual death."<sup>13</sup>

Finally, it must be emphasized above all that the altar in the Meditation Room is unsanctified and unhallowed. It has no sacred meaning, can inspire no reverence, and is not inviolable. This altar cannot be used for sacrifice in any other than an unholy sense.

#### THE SECRET OF THE MURAL

One clue to the mural's symbolism is given in Hammarskjold's and Beskow's descriptions of its purpose. It was to "open up the wall," to give a feeling of space, of the void — in effect, to extend the room further out, into another dimension as it were. The Friends' leaflet, "A Call To Prayer," states the theme of the mural is "infinity."

Let us look at this mural squarely from the viewpoint of the esoterically inclined, the occultist. There is an asymmetrical arrangement of the entire mural into what is called a "Magic Square," which is a square arranged in an equal number of cells — in this case nine — three rows up and three rows down. The game tit-tat-toe is based on this type of square. The talismanic magic square has a series of numbers in the ceils, "the enumeration of all of whose columns, vertically, horizontally, and diagonally, will give the same sum." The following nine digits<sup>14</sup> so arranged as to add up to 15 in any direction were regarded as sacred, because 15 is the numerical value of the Hebrew word for God, JAH, which is one of the forms of the Tetra-grammaton:

4 9 2 3 5 7 8 1 16

The predominately dark blue rectangle which occupies most of the middle tier of the mural, the upper side of which passes through the exact middle of the small bisected sphere, represents the altar. The yellow rectangle set at an angle into the lower and middle tiers so that one corner touches the bottom of the mural is a second representation of the altar. They indicate duality: the yellow figure — light (sun); the blue figure — earth (altar). Both rectangular figures are overlaid in part by other patterns in other colors.



The all-important sphere in the left upper middle section symbolizes, among other things, the sun. Sun worship was "the oldest and by far the most prevalent of all the ancient religions."<sup>15</sup> The sphere is bisected and quartered. "The phenomena of nature that made the deepest religious impression on archaic man [were] the outstretched heavens above him, and the outspread earth beneath; both of which he naturally divided into four quarters ... this four-fold heaven and earth he signified by a circle, or a square, divided cross-ways."<sup>16</sup> The circle is met within every form of sorcery. The circle in quadrants is called ihe Magic Circle.<sup>17</sup>

The objects in the Meditation Room are intended to be evocative, in the religious sense. Of what? The mural and altar are admittedly symbols. "By symbolism the simplest, the commonest objects are transformed, idealized, and acquire a new and, so to say, an illimitable value."<sup>18</sup>

An expert<sup>19</sup> on these subjects has written: "Under occult dominion Art, Music and Politics all lend to the same end: confusion, a calculated and inducted confusion: for minds that are confused will obey and bow to the hidden masters!

"The rule of the Triangle and the Ellipse, together with a crude Geometry in modern art, is the rule . . . in aesthetics.

"Standing before a meaningless Cubist canvas at an art exhibition one day, a puzzled amateur asked 'But what does it mean?' To which the painter replied, 'It's not a question of what it means, it's a question of what is its effect on the observer.'

"Consciously or unconsciously the artist spoke the truth. Psychiatrists tell us that this school of insidious humbug is simply an elaboration of the policy of the interruption of ideas leading to total incoherence and madness. 'Cubist' art is an effort to produce certain psychic effects obtainable by optical illusion. Beauty has noihing to do with it. The cubist school is not the realm of art at all. It belongs to that of medicine and psychic science. Those who forget that this devastating fad of 'The Interrupted Idea' can be extended to music, literature and every other phase of human effort, do so at their own peril.

"A mind that is positive cannot be controlled. For the purposes of occult dominion minds must therefore be rendered passive and negative in order that control can be achieved. Minds consciously working to a definite end are a power, and power can oppose power for good or for evil. The scheme for world dominion might be doomed by the recognition of this principle alone, but, as it is unfortunately unrecognized, it remains unchallenged."

#### THE TETRAGRAMMATON

A striking feature of the mural is the white half-crescent in its upper right quadrant. The inner curve of the crescent — closest to the bisected black, paleblue and yellow sphere — is equidistant at all points from the exact center of the bisected figure. Therefore, if the curve of the crescent is continued fullcircle, the figure which results is a hidden point within a circle, the symbol which was adopted by the astronomers as their sign of the sun. In the Ancient Mysteries the point in the circle denoted the principle of fecundity and has been carried down through the ages as a sign of various secret societies, including the Illuminati of Adam Weishaupt in 1776.<sup>20</sup> The female principle is also emphasized by the crescent moon or lunette figure.

There are 72 geometrical figures (and shadings) in the mural. The two crescent shapes and the four long triangles — white, yellow, blue and black which are located in the two upper tiers of the mural, are each counted as one figure. The number 72 denoted from the earliest days the Divine Name of 72 words. This number is derived from a permutation of the values assigned to the four letters of the Tetragrammaton (JHVH: Jehovah), the Ineffable, Unpronounceable Name of God. This Name, in its multitude of forms, can be used to work miracles or magic, so say the Cabalists. It Was derived from Exodus xiv, verses 19, 20 and 21, which each consist of 72 letters. "Now, if these three verses be written at length one above another, the first from right to left, the second from left to right, and the third from right to left (or, as the Greeks would say, boustrophedon), they will give 72 columns of three letters each. Then each column will be a word of three letters, and as there are 72 columns, there will be 72 words of three letters. each of which will be the 72 names of the Deity alluded to in the text. And these are called the Shemhamforesh." Seventy-two is also the number of the Quinaries or sets of five degrees in the 360 degrees of the Zodiac.<sup>21</sup>

The number of triangles in the mural are difficult to count. There are 22 — isosceles, equilateral, scalene, right-angled — triangles. There are also 22 numbered letters in the ancient Hebrew alphabet, with values of 1 to 400. The triangle is an ancient emblem of Deity; it is also a sign of the female element. However, if the apex of the triangle is pointed down it becomes the male element; thus inverted it may also represent Lucifer, particularly if it is black in color.

The spiral figure intertwined with the mural-length diagonal line symbolizes the Caduceus of Hermes (Mercury), which mythologically is represented as two serpents twined around the winged wand of Mercury. Nine arcs are formed by the intersections of the spiral line with the diagonal; the ninth Hebrew letter, Teth, with the value of nine, has the signification of "serpent."<sup>22</sup> The number of the Beast of Revelation is 666, which cabalis - tically is nine, the number of generation.<sup>23</sup> The twin serpents of the caduceus are negative and positive (representing polarity) and twine around the spinal column. They are the Kundalini or Sex Force. In The Encircled Serpent (Howey, op. cit.), the chapter on the Caduceus contains references (page 72) to the ancient use of the symbol without wings, as seen in the mural. The caduceus is also the symbol of peace, the propaganda term associated with the U.N. The serpents are male and female; the sun-god and the moon-god; and are symbols of generation. Buddha was symbolized by the serpent and in mythology is identical with Mercury.

The center sphere and the outer circles around it form the ALL-SEEING EYE. This bisected sphere overlays an isoceles triangle bounded on one side by the diagonal line. According to Manly Palmer Hall, in his occult treatise

on The Secret Destiny of America,<sup>24</sup> the ALL-SEEING EYE is that of the Great Architect of the Universe (whenever it appears as a symbol of God). His explanation is that which is generally accepted. It is, however, erroneous. A full commentary on the meaning of this all-important symbol appears in Part II of this study.

#### THE SEPHIROTH

Earlier, reference was made to the Sephiroth, and to the Three Pillars of which it is composed in the form called the Tree of Life. The verses of Exodus which contain the 72 letters of the Tetragrammaton are also believed by the Cabalists to contain the pillars of the Sephiroth, or Emanations. (The Cabala, by Bernhard Pick, Chicago, 1913, p. 91).

The reader will notice in the upper left corner of the mural an arc which curves down to the left from the tip end of the caduceus line and forms the third side of a white geometrical figure which is unique in the mural. The lower end of this arc meets the apex of four triangles — two white, one gray, and one vellow, the last of which touches the perimeter of the black and blue sphere. This arc represents the Crown of the Sephiroth, the first of the ten emanations issued from En Soph, The Divine Darkness (Waite, op. cit., p. 26). The four triangles represent other emanations. The caduceus line symbolizes the spinal chord of Adam Kadmon, The Archetypal Man, another form of the Sephiroth (Pick, op. cit., p. 70). The quartered sphere represents the four different worlds of the Tree. The three rows up and down of the mural are the Three Pillars of the Tree. The 22 Iriangles in the mural are the 22 lines or paths by which the (en Sephiroth are connected one to another (Waite, op. cit., p. 381. The left, male side of the Tree, indicated by the black half of the sphere, is darkness and death (Ibid., p. 350). The right side of the Tree is female: as symbolized by the moon figure, the while halfcrescent. The caduceus line —spinal chord is the sex force which extends down (he middle pillar of the Sephiroth, which is also the body of Adam Kadmon. The base of the spine is the Yesod or Foundation, the Sacred generative organs (Ibid., p. 1201. From Yesod springs the Kingdom at the bottom of the Tree, which represents Mankind.

The literature on this subject is vast and confusing, but there are certain basic ideas to be found in all cabalistic writings. Bernhard Pick (op. cit., p. 104-5) has written that "the idea of God according to the writings of the Old and new Testaments is entirely different. The same is the case with the notion of creation . . . the Cabala teaches not the Trinily, hut the Ten-Trinity of God." Furthermore, man has power over God, for "when the Cabalist prays, God shakes his head, changes at once his decrees, and abolishes heavy judgments." (Ibid., p. 97).

#### THE SECRET OF THE ROOM

The mural was described as having been designed to give a feeling of space by the opening up of the wall. All right, let us be literal about this and open up the wail behind the mural. The Meditation Room is constructed in the shape of a wedge. If the reader in his mind's eye looks at the room from above, in terms of its shape as a plane figure he will see at once that it is a triangle (pyramid) with the apex (capstone) cut off. (See Part II of this study.) If the two converging lines of the sides of the triangle are extended past the sides of the mural into the empty space beyond the wall, they meet to form the apex of the triangle (capstone of the pyramid). And what have we learned is the overall meaning of the mural ? It is that it represents the Tetragrammaton which is symbolized by the Eye in the Triangle. Thus we see that the Meditation Room symbolically represents a full triangle (pyramid) with an invisible apex (capstone) which contains the ALL-SEEING EYE of the mural.

#### CONCLUSION

The ultramundane symbolism and atmosphere of the Meditation Room of the United Nations may bemuse the unwary and the lukewarm in faith; their delusion need not be shared by Christians or members of other faiths who do not accept ancient paganism clothed in modern dress. "Pagan" had at one time an antonym: milites Christi or "enrolled soldiers of Christ" men and women who fought paganism with every iota of strength and faith and knowledge at their command. Milites Christi are needed now to combat the influence and supporters of this Temple of Abomination, with its crude, occult-evoking simulacra of Deity.

St. Paul said (Acts 17, verse 29): "If therefore we are the offspring of God, we ought not to imagine that the Divinity is like to gold or silver or stone, to an image graven by human art and thought." But Hammarskjold likened the light over the altar to the Sun's illumination and the altar to "the God whom man worships under many names and in many forms." Beelzebub or Buddha, Confucius or Christ — they are all one in the Meditation Room, a nameless god.

#### Appendix: MURAL A GIFT OF MARSHALL FIELD FAMILY

Early accounts of the gift of the mural (its cost in terms of labor, etc.) stated that an "anonymous donor" had supplied it to the room. However, the leaflet handed to visitors of the room states that "the fresco is a gift of the Marshall Field family, in his memory."

Marshall Field was the publisher of the newspaper PM in New York City, "sometimes referred to as the uptown edition of the Daily Worker";<sup>25</sup> an honorary vice chairman, with Owen Lattimore, of the American Committee in Aid of Chinese Industrial Cooperatives (INDUSCO, Inc.) in 1950, cited as "an organization that is now serving Communist purposes" by the Senale Internal Security Subcommittee;<sup>26</sup> a sponsor of the American Committee for Yugoslav Relief in 1915, declared "subversive and Communist by Attorney General Tom C. Clark";<sup>27</sup> sponsor of a Testimonial Dinner for Fredinand C. Smith in 1944, a cited Communist-front enterprise;<sup>28</sup> and President of the Field Foundation, investigated by the Select Committee To Investigate Tax-Exempt Foundations in 1952 because of its contributions to Communist front organizations. The Field Foundation's one-time secretary,

Louis S. Weiss, now deceased, was identified in the Committee's hearings as "a member of the Communist Party" (see American Mercury, January 1960, page 9). Trustees of the Foundation, namely Channing Tobias and Justine Wise Polier, were cited as long-time Communist-fronters.<sup>29</sup>

#### SOURCES

- 1. New Yorker, December 28, 1957.
- 2. "Van Nostrand's Scientific Encyclopedia," 3rd Edition, 1958, p. 1013.
- 3. November 11, 1957.
- 4. "In Search of The Miraculous," Harcourt Brace and Co., pp. 26-27.
- 5. New York Times release, December 6, 1950.
- 6. UN Room, Laymen's Movement for a Christian World.
- 7. UN release, November 1955.
- 8. UN Review, June 1957.
- 9. "An Encyclopedia of Freemasonry," Albert G. Mackey, New York, 1900, p. 186.
- 10. Ibid., pp. 750-757.
- 11. Ibid., pp. 756-757.
- 12. Ibid., p. 60.
- 13. Ibid., p. 535.
- 14. Ibid., p. 481.
- 15. Ibid., p. 766.
- 16. "The Migration of Symbols," by Count Goblet d'Alviella, University Books, 1956, p. xiv.
- 17. "A Pictorial Anthology of Witchcraft, Magic and Alchemy," by Emile Grillot De Givry, University Books, New York, American Edition, 1958, figure 77, page 106.
- 18. Alviella, op. cit., pp. 1-2.
- 19. "Occult Theocrasy," by Lady Queenborough (Edith Starr Miller), printed in France, 1933, Volume II, pp. 580-531.
- 20. A. Mackey, op. cit.. p. 590.
- 21. "The Kabbalah Unveiled," by S. L. M. Mathers, 6th Edition, 1951, Kegan Paul, London, p. 170.
- 22. S. Mathers, op. cit., p. 3.
- 23. "Lightbearers of Darkness," by Inquire Within, Boswell Co., London, 1930, p. 106.
- 24. Philosophical Research Society, Los Angeles, 1950.
- 25. House Un-American Activities Committee, Rept. 2277, 1942, p. 3.
- 26. Senate Internal Security Subcommittee, Institute of Pacific Relations hearings, 1952, p. 3793.'
- 27. HUAC Rept. on American Slav Congress, 1950, pp. 81, 122.
- 28. HUAC Appendix IX, 1944, p. 1623.
- 29. Hearings, pp. 436 et seq., 726.



### PART II

#### The Great Seal of the United States

#### THE GREAT SEAL ON THE DOLLAR BILL

The strange and fascinating history of the Great Seal of the United States has been included in this study because, One, the symbolism of the Meditation Room mural centers around the All-Seeing Eye which also appears above the pyramid on the reverse side of the Great Seal; Two, both sides of the Seal are prominent features of the mosaic window in the Prayer Room in the United States Capitol; Three, the All-Seeing Eye is symbolized in the Temple of Understanding; and Four, both sides of the Seal appear on the one dollar bill because of the same occult influence as was involved in the establishment of the Meditation Room, Prayer Room and the Temple of Understanding.

Arthur M. Schlesinger Jr., in his book, The Coming of the New Deal, published in 1958, provided his readers with a remarkably candid portrait of Henry A. Wallace, one-lime Vice President of the United States. According to Schlesinger (pp. 31-33) :

The occult fascinated him. He saw special significance in the Great Seal of the United States, with its phrase E Pluribus Unum and its conception of unity out of diversity; even more in the reverse of the Seal — the incomplete pyramid, with its thirteen levels of stone and the apex suspended above in the form of an all-seeing eye, surrounded by the inscription Annuit Coeptis [and] Novus Ordo Seclorum.... Those who are devout believers in the prophecies of the Bible... might well wonder whether the reverse of the Great Seal did not prefigure the Second Coming of the Messiah. Though he remained noncommittal about the extent of his own belief, Wallace did induce the Secretary of the Treasury to put the Great Pyramid on the new dollar bill in 1935. He sold this to Secretary Morgenthau on the prosaic ground that Novus Ordo was Latin for New Deal, and for years afterward Morgenthau was beset by people who assumed that the appearance of the Great Pyramid on the currency signified his own attachment to some esoteric fellowship.

His susceptibility to the occult had drawn Wallace in the late twenties into the orbit of a White Russian mystic in the tradition of Blavatsky named Dr. Nicholas Roerich, a painter and an associate in the Moscow Art Theater and the Diaghilev Ballet, a friend of Stravinsky and of Rabindranath Tagore... Wallace occasionally called on him at the Roerich Museum on Riverside Drive in New York. The friendship continued after Wallace went to Washington ... he found solace in a strange and protracted correspondence with Roerich and certain of his disciples. The letters, some addressing Roerich as 'Dear Guru,' contained cabalistic references to 'the Flaming One' or 'the Wavering One' or 'the Mediocre One,' by which he seems to have meant Roosevelt, 'the Sour One' (Cordell Hull), 'the Dark Ones' or 'the Tigers' (the Soviet Union), and mystic allusions to the chalice with the flame above it and to the descent of America into the depths of purifying fires.

Henry Wallace's deep interest in Roerich's own symbol, three circles in a sphere, was indicated in his book, New Frontiers, New York, pp. 11, 17, and 269; and his correspondence with his Dear Guru was reported on at length by Westbrook Pegler in March and April 1948. Wallace's decades-long association with Communists and even espionage agents (like Owen Lattimore) culminated in his candidacy for the Progressive Party, which was nothing more nor less than the Communist Party under a false label.

According to the original Press Release of the Treasury Department (No-5-59, August 15, 1935) announcing the appearance of the two sides of the Seal on the dollar bill, the Latin mottos on the reverse side are translated as "He (God) favored our undertakings'" (Annuit Coeptis) and "A New Order of the Ages" (Novus Ordo Seclorum). "The eye and triangular glory symbolize an all-seeing Deity. The pyramid is the symbol of strength and its unfinished condition denoted the helief of the designers of the Great Seal that there was still work to be done."

#### THE EARLY HISTORY OF THE GREAT SEAL

The finest source of information for those who are interested in the early history of the Seal is a thick two-volume study written by C. A. L. Totten in 1882.<sup>1</sup> He is the only authority cited by Gaillard Hunt, author of the State Department's pamphlet, The History of the Seal of the United States, published in 1909.

Thomas Jefferson, John Adams and Benjamin Franklin (as chairman) were appointed as a committee by the Continental Congress on July 4, 1776 to prepare a seal for the "United Stales of America," which meant the 13 states united in the act of independence, and not the central government of today (Journals of Congress, 1776, Vol. 1, pp. 2'18, 397). Jefferson secured the services of a French West Indian portrait painter named Eugene Pierre Du Simitiere, who later did the head of George Washington which was used on the 1791 coin.<sup>2</sup> The All-Seeing Eye appeared on Du Simitiere's first sketch of the seal, as the Eye of Providence-"an adoption of a very ancient symbol of the Overseeing God." Franklin's own choice for a design was an old illustration of Moses crossing the Red Sea accompanied by a quotation attributed to Oliver Cromwell, "Rebellion To Tyrants Is Obedience To God."<sup>3</sup> Nothing came of these first designs; the matter rested until 1782 when Ben Franklin secured William Barton, A.M., a private citizen of Philadelphia, as the second designer. Gaillard Hunt identified William Barton as the son of Reverend Thomas Barton, rector of St. James Episcopal Church, his mother being a sister of the famous David Rittenhouse.<sup>4</sup> William Barton published a memoir of Rittenhouse in 1813.

The first device submitted by Barton depicted among other emblems an Eagle on the summit of a Doric column, the All-Seeing Eye, and the stars:<sup>5</sup>

The Eagle displayed is the symbol of Supreme Power and Authority, and signifies the Congress; the Pillar, upon which it rests, is used as the Hieroglyphic of Fortitude and Constancy, and, its being of the Doric Order, (which is the best proportioned and most agreeable to Nature,) & Composed of Several Members or parts, all, taken together, forming a beautiful composition of Strength, Congruity and Usefulness, it may with great propriety signify a well planned Government. \* \* \* [The] stars upon a blue Canton, disposed in a Circle, represent a new Constellation, which alludes to the New Empire, formed in the World by the Confederation of those States. \* \* \* Their disposition, in the form of a Circle, denotes the Perpetuity of its Continuance, the Ring being the Symbol of Eternity.

William Barton's second device transferred the All-Seeing Eye to the reverse side of the Seal; pushed the Eagle up to the Crest; and placed a phoenix rising from the flames at the summit of the column.<sup>6</sup> "The Phoenix is emblematical of the expiring liberty of Britain, revived by her Descendants in America." The second device was adopted, reported on May 9, 1782 and referred to the Secretary of Congress, Charles Thomson, on June 13th. The final device, however, was a composite result of the ideas of Barton, Thomson and Jefferson, who, for example, is known to have placed a triangle around the eye, and to have added the year 1776, E Pluribus Unum, and other items.<sup>7</sup> Charles Thomson added the olive branch to the obverse side, and placed the stars above the Eagle as the Crest.

The phrase Annuit Coeptis was drawn from Virgil: "Audacibus annue coeptis," rendered as "Favor my daring undertaking" (Aeneid, Book 9 verse 625; also in Georgics, I, 40). Novus Ordo Seclorum was taken from Virgil's 4th Eclogue, 5th Verse: "Magnus ab integro seclorum nascitur ordo" translated "The great series of ages begins anew." The final device was decided upon on June 20, 1782, by the Continental Congress (and its use continued by the new Federal Government on September 15, 1789). In a few weeks a brass die of the face of the Great Seal — the Coat of Arms of the U.S.A. — was completed and put into use. The reverse side of the Seal was not cut in 1782, nor since. (See, however, footnote \* on page 37.)

Although it is a cardinal rule of blazonry that a seal's emblems must never vary, the second engraving of the Seal, prepared in 1841 when the old one became worn out, did vary. It was made by Edward Stabler of Sandy Spring, Maryland and was designed by the French artist R. P. Lamplier Jr.<sup>8</sup> It was known as the Websterian Great Seal, after Daniel Webster, the Secretary of Stale who ordered it made. It was used until 1885 even though it had 6 arrows rather than 13, less than 13 olives on the branch, 6 broadened pales on the escutcheon (shield), and other defects. Totten described it as "a manifest monstrosity" and "illegal and an abortion"—strong terms indeed!<sup>9</sup> The third engraving of the Seal was prepared in 1885 under Secretary of Slate F. T. Frelinghuysen, and the fourth under Secretary John Hay after \$1,250 was appropriated on July 1. 1902 for the purpose. The fourth and last die was engraved by Max Zeiler of Philadelphia and cut by Messrs. Bailey, Banks and

Biddle of the same city.<sup>10</sup> Neither of the last two dies were "illegal"— since both conformed in almost all respects to the specifications of the 1782 law. The reproduction of the face of the Great Seal accompanying this study was made from a painting of our heraldic coat of arms, or blazon of the fourth die, which is still in use. The copy of the reverse side was also made from a blazon, not from a die, however, since none was ever made. Both blazons appear as color plates in Gaillard Hunt's History of the Seal of the United States.

#### WHY THE REVERSE SEAL HAS NEVER BEEN USED

As a direct result of prolonged agitation by C. A. L. Totten the U. S. Congress appropriated \$1,000 on July 7, 1884 "to obtain dies of the obverse and reverse" sides of the Great Seal (23 Statutes, 354). Totten had objected so strongly to the use of the illegal Websterian Seal that Secretary of State Frelinghuysen had a committee formed under Theodore F. Dwight, chief of the Bureau of Rolls and Library of the State Department, to consider what steps should be taken to revise the design. The committee consultants were Justin Winsor, a history scholar; Professor Charles Eliot Norton of Harvard University; William H. Whitmore, geneologist and author of Elements of Heraldry (N. Y. 1866); John Denison Chaplin Jr., Associate Editor of American Cyclopedia; and James Horton Whitehouse, designer for Tiffany and Company in New York City.<sup>11</sup>

The five men recommended that the reverse side of the Seal not be cut and not be used as an official document seal. Professor Norton wrote that "it is greatly to be regretted that the device adopted by Congress in 1782 is of go elaborate and allegorical a character. As to the reverse ... it can hardly (however artistically treated by the designer) look otherwise than as a dull emblem of a Masonic fraternity."<sup>12</sup> Justin Winsor described the reverse side as "both unintelligent and commonplace. If it can be kept in the dark, as it seems to have been kept, why not keep it so?" T. F. Dwight also felt that "it has been so long kept in the dark, a few months more of shade will do it no harm." William Whitmore considered it "a thankless task to arrange it, as Professor Norton says; use it as little as possible." J. D. Chaplin Jr. objected to the Crest of stars on the obverse side: "This is bad, very bad, heraldically." He also noted that "the law does not call for 13 courses of stone" in the pyramid on the reverse side.<sup>13</sup> "So general was the criticism of it (the reverse) and so palpable were its shortcomings that it was determined not to cut it."<sup>14</sup> During the 1892 World's Fair in Chicago copies of the two sides of the Seal were made for exhibition. However, the appearance presented by the reverse "was so spiritless, prosaic, heavy, and unappropriate that it was never hung."<sup>15</sup>

#### MYSTIC SYMBOLISM OF REVERSE SEAL

C. A. L. Totten, aa a 1st Lieutenant in the 4th Artillery, U. S. Army, communicated his views on the Seal to Charles J. Folger, Secretary of the Treasury, on February 10, 1882. His plea for the issuance of a medal commemorating the centenary of the adoption of the Seal was successful. He wrote that "the All-Seeing Eye is one of the oldest hieroglyphics of the Deity. The triangle also is a cabalistic symbol of the most remote antiquity....

"The descent of the mystic eye and triangle in the form of a capstone to this mysterious monument [the Great Pyramid of Gizeh] of all times and nations, is to us as a people most pregnant with significance. The motto, Novus Ordo Seclorum, is a quotation from the 4th Eclogue and was borrowed in turn by Virgil from the mystic Sybylline records.

"The entire quotation is as follows: 'The last age of Cumaen song now comes. (Novus Ordo Seclorum altered from Magnus Soeclorum ordo), A mighty order of ages is born anew. Both the prophetic Virgin and Saturnian kingdoms now return. Now a new progeny is let down from the lofty heavens. Favor, chaste Lucina, the boy soon io be born in whom the iron age shall come to an end, and the golden one shall arise again in the whole earth.'." Virgil was a pagan philosopher of Rome.<sup>16</sup>

The literalure on the mystic meaning of the Seal is extensive and amazing. It appears that almost every secret fraternity, society and movement in the country has claimed the Seal's reverse side as its own. Celestia Root Lang wrote:<sup>17</sup> "The reverse side must have been designed by a mystic, one versed in symbolism. ... All true Theosophists ought to be able to see ... the connecting link between true Theosophy and the reverse side of the Seal of the United States. ... the time will come . . . when the white stone will become the headstone of the corner of our government... in proclaiming a new religion in which all spiritual currents flowing from every religion shall meet in the perfection of the white stone [capstone over the pyramid] teaching of ... spiritual unfoldment . ... having neither dogma nor doctrine. . . . We see in Mr. [William] Barton only the facade of the instrument; that, if he himself was not a Mystic or Seer, then, a Master stood behind him." (Her emphasis.) Miss Lang felt that this "Master" must have been Thomas Paine, the Deist and revolutionary.

C. A. L. Totten attributed a Scriptural meaning to the use of the number 13 in the Seal: 13 stripes in the Shield, 13 stars in the Crest, 13 letters in E Pluribus Unum, 13 arrows, 13 olive branch leaves, 13 olive berries; and, on the reverse side, 13 courses of stones in the pyramid and 13 letters in Annuit Coeplis.<sup>18</sup> He noted that the number 13 occurs twice in one of the forms of the Tetragrammaton: Jehovah: JHVH: J(10) H(5) V(6) H(5): 26: 2 x I3.<sup>19</sup> Another source<sup>2</sup>" claimed that the Seal is a symbol of the Rosicrucians and that the clouds represent the "white roses" of the Order. The Federation of British Israelites adopted the reverse side as its own emblem.<sup>21</sup> One of the dies of the face of the Seal shows the dexter wing of the Eagle with 32 feathers and the sinister (left) wing with 33 feathers, which supposedly establishes its connection with the Scottish Rite order.<sup>22</sup> None of these claims are substantiated by any evidence which can be considered conclusive.

#### THE CREST: THE SEAL OF SOLOMON

The controversy which has swirled around the symbolism of the Great Seal for over 180 years has by no means been limited to the reverse side. The Crest heraldically is an independent device; it is correctly considered apart from the Eagle and from the reverse side of the Seal. As an emblem of Arms selected for special dignity the Crest represents America herself. The Eagle represents the People.

The Crest is composed of the stars, around which is disposed a circle of clouds, and the Glory, a halo or corona of light. Totten wrote that: "The Glory has not been correctly realized upon a single die used for Great Seal purposes. . . . the primary significance of a Glory was to denote the presence of God." Heraldry borrowed this emblem directly from the Scriptures (Ps. lxiii, 2; 1 Kings viii, 11, etc.). Yet, as Totten pointed out, not a single ray of light breaks through the clouds. God thus becomes a captive within the circle (which can represent the Serpent), as Jehovah is a captive of the Cabalists (see Sephiroth, Part 1). Totten discovered that the State Department had

dropped the Glory altogether in its representation of the Coat of Arms as an architectural ornament in full color above the entrances of its foreign embassies, legations and consulates throughout the world. The Crest was thus mutilated and the Presence of God was no longer symbolized in the emblem. Tottens comments also apply to the fourth die which is still in use.<sup>23</sup>



The Constellation of Stars — by its arrangement — constitutes the most serious deviation from the Fundamental Law which authorized the establishment of the Seal. The Honorary A. Loudon Snowden, Superintendent of the Mint of the United States, objected to the appearance of the "13 stars embraced in an oblong or depressed circle [which design he considered] doubtless the result of an unappreciative engraver, who imagined the stars would look more artistically arranged if embraced within the lines of a circle." He also objected to the pyramid on the back side because "each layer representing a State, is subdivided, or broken, and as if composed of several pieces cemented together. This was certainly not the original design [for the] unfinished national pyramid."<sup>34</sup> The 13 levels should have been composed of 13 solid blocks. Snowden was correct in his objections but naive in his interpretation of the motives of the designer.

In our national heraldry all stars are five-pointed. Yet the 13 stars in the Crest are arranged in the form of a six-pointed star which is composed of two interlaced triangles. This is unmistakably the ancient Oriental talisman, the Seal of Solomon. Totten wrote:<sup>25</sup>

\* \* \* the legal specifications of the group of stars as "a constellation" warrants some degree of regularity in the "heraldic" arrangement \* \* • But why now a six-pointed constellation of five-pointed stars? This is a clear lapse from the developed standpoint. In the first realization of the Seal, as cut from the original die, the stars were conceived as six-pointed and the constellation was very naturally made six-pointed to match. But the lapse was soon discovered from comparison with the stars upon the Flag, so while they were changed to the five-pointed order in the Websterian die, the six-pointed form of the constellation was unfortunately retained and still mars the realization of our Crest. It should be manifest that the very same deference paid to an heraldic art-idea, which resulted in grouping thirteen six-pointed stars into a larger six-pointed constellation, would have grouped them, as five-pointed elements, into a corresponding five-pointed constellation. [His emphasis.]

Mr. Totten erred in one respect: the incorrectness of the use of six-pointed stars in the Crest was not "soon discovered"—since we know that the Websterian die was not cut until almost sixty years later! The "unartistic, unnatural and cramped arrangement" of the stars in the Crest did not occur by mere chance. Mr. Albert C. Hopkins stated flatly that "the arrangement of the stars of the Crest into the form of a six-pointed feudal star is wholly unknown to our Flag whose new Constellation it purports to represent."<sup>26</sup> After the third die was cut in 1885 Totten commented that "the incongruous if not still ominous six-pointed constellation continues to over shadow the Eagle, and its talons are so enormously out of proportion that they look as if they belonged to the well-known monstrous bird of Arabian mythology, the Roc."<sup>27</sup>

A curious fact concerning the original Great Seal seems to have eluded the notice of all the writers who have concerned themselves with its history and significance. The face of the Seal contains the number 13 repeated 6 times (as Totten noted). 13 x 6 equals 78. The 13 six-pointed stars on the original die also repeated this figure (13 x 6: 78), thus establishing an exact numerical balance between the Crest and the entire Coat of Arms.

#### THE ARMS AND CREST IN ST. PAUL'S CHAPEL, N. Y.

C. A. L. Totten was the first historian to photograph and publicize the painting of the Arms and Crest in St. Paul's Chapel in New York City:<sup>28</sup> Immediately alter the inauguration of George Washington, their first Constitutional President, Congress adjourned, and in a body proceeded to St. Paul's Chapel, where it engaged in divine service. Upon reorganizing it ordered that a duly blazoned, and framed painting of the Arms of the Crest of the United States should be prepared, and suspended over the President's pew in St. Haul's. This painting hangs today in its appropriate place. ... it is ... of immense value as a link in the history of our national heraldry. It speaks with the highest

authority upon some of the disputed points \_\_\_\_

It is the first and only blazon of its kind ever ordered by Congress. ... One of the most interesting features of this celebrated blazon is the fact that its artist — (name unknown) — conceived aright the natural arrangement of the Crest or Constellation. The stars in this blazonry, which by the way are correctly five-pointed, are arranged irregularly over the field, and not circumscribed or confined in a circle .... the clouds which surround the group . . . roll back and break away in a marked circular form. Thus the emblem of eternity — the circle — ... does not in any way limit the group. Its very arrangement implies the future growth of the new constellation, as rolling further back the clouds shall let in other stars until a form results whose stellar distribution we cannot even dimly yet discern. ... The marked avoidence, too, of their arrangement in the form of a six-pointed constellation of six-pointed stars is also noticeable. [His emphasis.]

The original painting of the Arms and Crest, executed after Washington's inauguration on April 30, 1789, still hangs in its appointed place over the President's pew in the North Aisle of St. Paul's Chapel at Broadway and Fulton Street, New York City, where it may he seen by visitors any day of the week. A 5cent picture postcard of the painting is sold in the Chapel.



St. Paul's Chapel is the oldest public building on Manhattan Island, erected in 1766. Here George Washington worshipped for two years (see Washington's Diary, 1789 and 1790), seated directly under the beautiful and inspiring painting of our national Coat of Arms hanging on the wall behind his pew. The religious heritage of our Nation could hardly have been expressed in a more felicitous fashion than it was in the symbolism of this painting. The Glory of golden light is by far the most prominent feature of the blazon. It indicates in the strongest terms the Presence of God. The heavenly rays of light extend from the outer perimeter of the circle of clouds out behind the entire upper portion of the Eagle's body and even beyond the tips of its wings. The head of the Eagle with its fierce curved beak is within the circle of clouds. No occult meaning can be attached to the number of feathers in the wings and tail. The escutcheon (shield) on the breast is curved; its sides meet in a point at the base of the tail. The curved shield is heraldically correct and has far greater esthetic appeal than the square shield on the official Coat of Arms.

On the wall beneath the painting is a brass plaque bearing the text of George Washington's Prayer for the United States of America:

Almighty God; we make our earnest prayer that Thou wilt keep the United States in Thy holy protection, that Thou wilt incline the hearts of the citizens to cultivate a spirit of subordination and obedience to government; and entertain a brotherly affection and love for one another and for their fellow citizens of the United States at large. And finally that Thou wilt most graciously be pleased to dispose us all to do justice, to love mercy and to demean ourselves with that charity, humility and pacific temper of mind which were the characteristics of the Divine Author of our blessed religion, and without a humble imitation of whose example in these things we can never hope to be a happy nation. Grant our supplication, we beseech Thee, through Jesus Christ Our Lord. Amen. [Emphasis supplied.]

Washington's Prayer was adapted from his Circular Letter to the Governors; its use of the phrase, "our blessed religion," reflected in unmistakable terms Washington's conviction that the United Stales was a Christian Nation. A very early drawing in Columbian Magazine<sup>29</sup> of the Coat of Arms shows the constellation of five-pointed stars scattered over the whole field, as in the painting in St. Paul's Chapel. It's Glory also breaks through the clouds. However, the stars on the Washington Medal (1792) made at the Mint by Dr. Rittenhouse were six-pointed and its olive branch leaves were 15 rather than 13 in number.<sup>30</sup> The Diplomatic Medal also showed the Glory "breaking through the clouds"<sup>31</sup> and the Great Seal Centenary Medal of 1882 did not depict the Seal of Solomon on the Crest.<sup>32</sup> Harper's Weekly reported during the year the Centenary Medal was struck that "in all that pertains to heraldry it is inaccurate" (referring to both sides of the Seal) and that officials of the Treasury and State Departments were considering scrapping the Great Seal for a new design.<sup>33</sup> Samuel Lewis, a jeweler in Washington, D.C., prepared a 20 pound steel die for a Great Treaty Seal which showed 60 leaves on the olive branch and six-pointed stars in the Seal of Solomon Crest. It was used until 1883.<sup>34</sup>

An unknown engraver placed the unfinished pyramid on the S50.00 bill of 1778.<sup>35</sup> The Nova Constellalio colonial coins, 1783-85, showed on their obverse sides the Radiant Eye;<sup>36</sup> and the 3 cent silver piece in use from 1851 to 1873 was engraved with the Seal of Solomon.<sup>37</sup> It is also very important to know that Congress ordered the preparation of a smaller seal for the personal use of all the Presidents of the Confederation. It consisted of one emblem only: the Seal of Solomon Crest.<sup>38</sup> The Kentucky penny of 1791 was adorned with a triangle of 15 stars.<sup>39</sup> The use of these symbols on the coins, currency and the small seal provides us with conclusive proof of the existence of a directing influence behind the adoption of these occult signs at the time of the founding of Our Nation.

C. A. L. Totten provided drawings in his massive study of the correct form in which the Constellation should have appeared in the Crest, presuming any regularity of design was necessary. (See illustration of the design.<sup>40</sup>) It incorporates the Cross in the Constellation and certainly is more appropriate than the Seal of Solomon. There *is* a Southern Cross in the heavens, but no constellation remotely resembling the two interlaced triangles of the design in use.



The heraldry of American heroism never used the Solomonic seal before 1942. The Constellation in the Crest appeared on the four decorations of the Legion of Merit, created by Congress July 20, 1942. The degrees of Chief Commander, Commander, Officer and Legionnaire are awarded to the personnel of the armed forces of friendly foreign nations, and of the U. S. and the Philippines. This decoration was the first specific award in U.S. history to foreigners, and the first to have different degrees, as in the secret orders. The Commander award has the motto, Annuit Coeptis, along with the emblem. The designer of these decorations, Colonel Townsend Heard, also placed the motto, Novus Ordo Seclorum, on the obverse side of the Medal for Merit, awarded to civilians of the United States and her allies by act of Congress 7/20/42.<sup>41</sup>

#### THE ALL-SEEING EYE A SYMBOL OF OSIRIS

We now arrive at the point when we must consider that all-important key symbol, the All-Seeing Eye. Mr. Totten traced the history of the Eye in the triangle back to ancient Chaldea and its appearance as the Solar Eye, the Eye of Jove or Jupiter, of Phoebus or Apollo, the Eye of Baal, and as the Eye of Providence. The Eye of Jove appeared on the front of Jove's temple at Peloponnessus. As the Solar Eye it was the symbol of the Arabian god of. Jethro, the black father-in-law of Moses, and of the Arabic motto, "Allah," or "I am that I am." All ancient temples of Arabia were decorated with the Eye, which had first appeared as the symbol of Osiris, Isis and Horus of Egypt.<sup>42</sup>

The Eye represented the mystic symbol of the so-called Egyptian "trinity," expressed in these words, often inscribed on the statues of Isis: "I am all that has been, that is, or shall be, and none among mortals has hitherto taken off my veil." She was the daughter of Saturn and her name meant ancient. She married her brother Osiris, and was pregnant by him even before she had left her mother's womb, according to Plutarch's account. She and her brother-husband comprehended all nature and all the gods of the heathens. She was the Venus of Cyprus, the Minerva of Athens, the Cybele of the Phrygians, the Ceres of Eleusis, the Proserpine of Sicily, the Diana of Crete, the Bellona of the Romans, &c. And she was the Moon and Osiris the Sun.<sup>43</sup> Osiris received the same adoration as Anubis, Bacchus, Dionysius, Jupiter and Pan. In other words, debauched revelries or saturnalias (from Saturn, his father) were held in his honor. "He visited the greater part of the kingdoms of Asia and Europe, where he enlightened the minds of man by introducing among them the worship of the gods, and a reverence for the wisdom of a supreme being."44

Totten, tracing the symbolism of the Eye, affirmed that "the word Jehovah, of the Solar circle of Arabia, superseded the Egyptian motto in the radiant triangle, and as the Word soon became too sacred to be spoken or ever written, it was generally symbolized by the All-Seeing Eye of Him whose name it was."<sup>45</sup> He described the "cap of purest crystal" once atop the pyramid of Gizeh (the floating triangle on the reverse Seal) as the "priceless gem of Egypt"—"the terrible crystal." (Job xxxviii, 4-7.) He believed that "when at last it shall actually crown the Pyramid of human institutions, then indeed shall all men dwell beneath the shadow of "The Rock'."<sup>46</sup> (Deut. xxxii, 4; Psalms xci, 1: Isa. xxvi, 4 and xxxii, 2.) Totlen insisted that the symbolism had a Scriptural basis. His "cap" on the pyramid is the Biblical cornerstone; his "Rock" is Jehovah in the Old Testament. Yet his own research and documentation on the meaning of the Seal proved the contrary. He was always the optimist, even when he wrote that he could not "but feel... the certainty that a Hidden Hand blazoned the heraldry of this Great People."<sup>47</sup>

George Rawlinson's massive three-volume history of The Seven Great Monarchies o/ the Ancient Eastern World<sup>48</sup> provides us with vital and pertinent data concerning the symbols with which we are dealing. The Babylonians of the 7th Century B.C. attached to each god in their pantheon "a special mystic number, which is used as his emblem and may even stand for his name in an inscription." Further, each god had an emblematic sign. "Thus a circle, plain or crossed, designates the Sun-god, San or Shamas; a six-rayed or eight-rayed star the Sun-goddess, Gula or Anunit." The altar was represented by an emblem surmounted by a triangle.<sup>49</sup> The use of the simple circle and the quartered disk as a divine symbol of the sun traced back from the Babylonians to the Chaldeans of the 23rd Century B.C. The gods were the same, San and Gula; the symbols were the same.<sup>50</sup> The two monarchies placed their gods in triads, headed by one god, Ra, "a sort of fount and origin of deity." San was the second member of the second triad, accompanied by his wife.<sup>51</sup> The first triad consisted of Ana (Pluto), the "Lord of darkness or death;" Belus (Jupiter), the son of the Egyptian Osiris and the god whose temple was the original of the tower of Babel;<sup>52</sup> and Hoa (Neptune), strongly connected "with the serpent of Scripture and ... the tree of life." Hoa's wife was the mother of Belus.<sup>53</sup> The Cabalists lifted their entire Sephirotic tree of life representing Jehovah from the triads of the Chaldean-Babylonian pantheon (see Sephirolh, Part 1).

The Egyptian pantheon was even more ancient, dating from the 27th to the 30th Centuries B.C. or even earlier, according to some sources. The Sungods of Egypt were nine in number. The chief among them was Osiris, whose worship was universal. He was "the great deity of Amenti or Hades [Hell]." Rawlinson described Osiris' role as the Judge of the Dead: "It was the universal belief that, immediately after death, the soul descended into the lower world and was conducted to the Hall of Truth, where it was judged in the presence of Osiris and the forty-two demons, the 'Lords of Truth' and judges of the dead."<sup>54</sup> (One of the divine names of the Tetragrammaton consisted of 42 letters.) Osiris was called "the master of the gods." The name of Osiris was expressed, most simply, by two hieroglyphs, one of which was the human eye (the left eye, as used on the reverse side of the Great Seal). "Sometimes, however, the human eye is replaced by a simple circle." Osiris was most commonly represented "in a mummied form, to mark his presidency over the dead.. ... When represented as a man walking, he has the lappeted wig, crowned with two wavy horns, above which are ... two feathers. The wavy horns are also found with the plumed crown above them, and serpents (uraei) on either side, surmounted by disks. . . . Isis, at one time his mother, at another his sister, at another his daughter, is always his wife, and their child is Har or Horus."<sup>55</sup>

The 42 demons who aided Osiris in the infernal regions were known as "the assessors" and had such names as "eyes of flame," "breath of flame," "cracker of bones," "devourer of shades," "eater of hearts," "swallower," "white tooth," and "smoking face." They "lived by catching the wicked," "fed off their blood," and "devoured their hearts before Horus." They were judges, accusers and punishers of crime. "Guilty souls were handed over to them by Osiris, but to be 'tortured' only, not destroyed."<sup>56</sup>

During Osiris' great expedition beyond the borders of Egypt "he left his kingdom to the care of his wife Isis, and her faithful minister Hermes or Mercury" who was Anubis (brother to Osiris), represented with a caduceus. When Osiris returned he found that his brother Set (Typhon) had aroused his subjects against him. (Set's name was expressed by a hieroglyphic containing the black half-sphere seen in the meditation room murai.) Set murdered his brother and cut his body into fourteen pieces. Isis recovered all the mangled pieces, with the exception of the privities of her husband, which had been thrown into the sea. Horus defeated Set and Osiris was proclaimed to he a resurrected god. His body, encased in fourteen different statues, was worshipped with divine honors. That part of the body not recovered was rendered homage during festivals called Phallica, which were introduced into Europe by the Athenians. The entire system of phallic worship in the ancient world originated in this festival held in honor of Osiris.<sup>57</sup>

The number fourteen has a special occult meaning in the symbolism of modern-day secret societies as the "14. days of burial (lunar darkness)." Plutarch, in his treatise On Isis and Osiris, explained the symbolism: "The body of Osiris was cut into fourteen pieces; that is, into as many parts as there are days between the full moon and the new."<sup>58</sup> Now, if the picture of the reverse side of the Great Seal is examined, it will be found that fourteen rays of light issue from the triangle containing the Eye of Osiris. This combination of symbols simply cannot be attributed to a chance arrangement.

Only one writer — an occultist — has realized the startling fact that the number of stones in the pyramid totals 72, the 72 arrangements of the Tetragrammaton, the cabalistic name of Jehovah.<sup>59</sup> The stones are counted as follows (from the top 13th level down to the base): 3; 4; 4(3 plus 2 1/2's); 4;

5; 5(4 plus 2 1/2's); 5; 6; 6(5 plus 2 1/2's); 7(6 plus 2 1/2's); 7; 8; 8(7 plus

2 1/2's). Total: 72. The meaning of the Tetragrammaton was explained at length in Part I.

The pagan origin of the two mottos on the reverse seal has already been attested to. The entire quotation cited earlier containing the phrase Novus Ordo Seclorum provides the ciue as to the nature of the "New Order of the
Ages" referred to. I( is a "golden" age during which the "Saturnian" kingdom shall return. Saturn was the father of Osiris. The other motto, Annuit Coeptis, "Favor my daring undertaking." was not a supplication to God; in conjunction with the other motto it can only refer to Saturn or Osiris. The reign of Saturn was called "the golden age" even though he received human sacrifices and devoured his own children. He was symbolized by the serpent biting its own tail.<sup>60</sup>

#### THE SUN AND THE SERPENT

Ophiolatry is the worship of serpents. The religion of ancient Egypt was closely interwoven with the worship of sun and serpent. The deity, Kneph, was pictured as a serpent in a fiery circle. "He was regarded as the first emanation of the Supreme Being, the good genius of the world, the demiurgus, the efficient Reason of all things, and the Architect of the Universe. ... Kneph is identified with the sun, hence the rays of glory around his head. Both serpent and sun were emblems of the Celestial Father.... As the solar deity, Kneph became the Cristos of the Gnostics. . . . was regarded as the spiritual sun of enlightenment, or wisdom."<sup>61</sup>

In the Egyptian pantheon, "Osiris himself was said to have been the son of Kneph ... and he was essentially identical with Kneph." The worship of Isis, the moon-goddess, was equally entwined wilh ophiolatry. Her emblem was the horned viper. "In the British Museum there is a head of Isis wearing a coronet of them." The Egyptians often represented Isis and Osiris together, as two serpents. "About the commencement of the Christian era the cult of Osiris was extended over Asia Minor, Greece and Rome." Cicero tells us that he was known as Ob-el, from whence we derive the obelisk.<sup>62</sup>

The identity of Hermes-Mercury. Anubis (brother to Osiris) has already beeen mentioned. His emblem, the caduceus, was the talismanic serpent, originally entwined around a Tau cross, which was also a phallus. The serpents represented the power of Mercury as a Sun-god. The caduceus was identified with Moses' Brazen Serpent. "In Judah the image of Jehovah took the form of a golden serpent, as in Solomon's temple." Its worship "was in fact the worship of the Sun-god, Osiris, under the name of Jehovah." The Targum, or Chaldee Paraphrast, referred to the Brazen Serpent as the 'Word<sup>1</sup>."<sup>63</sup> It must also be mentioned that the olive branch on the Coat of Arms — the emblem of peace — traces directly back to the olive wand of the caduceus.<sup>64</sup>

### The Cao Dai God Symbol: The All-Seeing Eye

Today, in South Viet Nam in South-east Asia there exists a very real Cult of the All-Seeing Eye. It is called Cao Dai. It is a bizarre blend of Buddhism, Confucianism, Taoism, Christianity, and Animism. The last named doctrine refers to the anima mundi, the idea that phenomena of animal life are produced by an immaterial soul. Ophiolatry is a component part of the Cao Dai "religion" which is symbolized by the God symbol of the All-Seeing Eye in the Triangle (see illustration). The Eye. neither right nor left, has a thick black eyebrow above it. Sixteen rays emanate from the triangle.

The sect claims a membership of two million or more, mostly in the Mekong Delta region and Tay Ninh province, northeast of Saigon, which it once ruled with a private army. Its Great Temple, located near the Cambodian border in the same area, contains great columns around which are entwined raised carvings of huge cobras, reaching from the floor (o the ceiling. The Cao Dai "Pope" sits on a serpent throne in this temple. The two arms of the throne are carved into the shape of two huge cobra heads and necks. Two similar cobra heads form the base; and the undersides of three more cobra heads and necks provide the backrest of the throne. The "Pope's" entire royal robe and his foot coverings also represent the shape and skin of the cobra.

The Cao Dai also has its own "cardinals" in its "Vatican" headquarters in the Great Temple, which is 55 miles northeast of Saigon. The cult has deliberately adopted the use of Catholic terms lo mock Catholicism. It has an expanding pantheon that includes Clemenceau. Sun Yat-sen, Victor Hugo and Joan of Are, and. in nomination pending his death. Sir Winston Churchill. Its Pope, Pham Cong Tac, formerly a Saigon customs clerk, died in exile in Cambodia in 1959 and has not yet been replaced. The cult, formed in Saigon in the 1920's. had managed by 1956 to build up a private army of 15,000 men. Pham Cong Tac, to stay in power, at one time or another, allied his army and 2 million supporters with the Japanese, the French, and the Communist guerillas.

The first Premier-President of South Viet Nam, Catholic Ngo Dinh Diem, crushed the Cao Dai cult in 1955-56. with the assistance of Pham Cong Tac's Military Chief-of-Staff General Nguyen Thanh Phuong. The General disarmed the 400-man "papal guard" and clapped a score of "cardinals" and Pham Cong Tac himself under house arrist. In early March, 1956, the General forced the "Pope" into exile in Pnompenh in Cambodia, by collecting certified letters from 19 "vestal virgins" of Cao Dai who complained that Pham Cong Tac had raped them.

The Cao Dai. at the height of its power in 1955, controlled — with two other sects — one-third of South Viet Nam. The three sects formed an exotic consortium of religious fanatics, feudal warlords, uniformed hoodlums and racket bosses. Their combined armies totaled 40,000 men. One of the sects, the Hoa Hao. is composed of dissident Buddhists founded by the deceased Huynh Phu So, who. so the story goes, converted his psychiatrist when he was sent to a lunatic asylum. The other sect, the Binh Xuyen. is an organization of bandits, in mustard-colored uniforms, who controlled both the brothels of Saigon and the police of the same city under an arrangement with the absentee chief of state, Bao Dai. Their commander, General Le Van Vien. was once a river pirate.

Premier Ngo Dinh Diem crushed the three sects. For eight years South Viet Nam was free of the evil of the Cao Dai. Then, in late 1963. the Premier and his brother. Ngo Dinh Nhu. were assassinated in a CIA-supported murder plot headed by Buddhist traitors in the Vietnamese Government. At once the top surviving Cao Dai leader, exiled General Le Than Tat, returned to Viet Nam from Cambodia to regroup the many factions of the cult into a unified movement.

General Tat returned on November 15, 1963 to the fold of the Cao Dai in a solemn ceremony in the Great Temple decorated with its grotesque dragons and the central symbol of the sect — the All-Seeing Eye radiating "cosmic rays." He knelt before an altar of sculpted cobras and a portrait of Victor Hugo in the uniform of the French Academy. The elaborate ritual performed by the "priests" at that time represented an obscene travesty of religion. The central object of worship is the Serpent. The cult of the All-Seeing Eye, the Cao Dai, openly worships the same ancient deity that its American counterpart venerates and adores behind a screen of mummery and Mumbo Jumbo.<sup>85</sup>



<sup>•</sup>See page 25.—"The Seal of the United States" (State Dept. Pub. No. 6455, issued 1957, 30¢ per copy, Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Govt. Printing Off., Washington 25, D.C.), lists cuttings of the Seal not previously recorded: an "illegal" Great Treaty Seal die cut in 1825 by Seraphim Masi, jeweler, Washington, D.C.; an "illegal" die of the obverse side of the Seal cut in 1877 by Herman Baumgarten of Washington. It states that the 1841 die was cut by John V. N. Throop of Washington and that the 1885 die was cut by Tiffany and Co. of New York. It also notes that "evidence has recently been found" indicating that in 1885 "a die may then have in fact been cut" of the *reverse side* of the Seal – which was never put in use. The original 1782 die is on display in the National Archives and the other dies may be seen on the north mezzanine of the main State Dept. building. The Custodian of the Great Seal refuses to allow any examination of the files in her possession by historians even though the Seal is uniquely a part of our National Inheritance. It is the symbol of America, the People, and the Congress.

#### SOURCES

- "Our Inheritance In the Greaf Seal of the United States and Its Signification unto 'The Great People' Thus Sealed." Vol. 1, Its History and Heraldry (Published in March 1897 by the Our Race Pub. Co.. Study No. 18, Copyright 1882). by Charles Adiel Lewis Totten: Vol. II. The Seal of History. Signification. Facts of Note (Yale University, Quarterly. Our Race—Its Origin and Its Destiny. Series V. No. 19, 1897. New Haven. Conn.).
- 2. Ibid., 1, p. 9: see also Harper's Map. July 1856, Vol.III, p. 179, & Map. of Amer. History, June 1803.
- 3. Ibid., 1. p.-11.
- 4. Pennsylvania Magazine, X, p. 114.
- 5. "The History of the Seal of the United Stales." by Gaillard Hunt. State Department, Washington. D.C., 1909.
- 6. Ibid., pp. 28, 30.
- 7. Totten. op. cit.. 1. p. 11.
- 8. Ibid., p. 256.
- 9. Ibid., I, pp. 210, 212; II, p. 226; see also Galaxy, Vol. 23. p. 691, May 1877, "The Great Seal of the United Stales."
- 10. Hunt, op. cit.. p. 61.
- 11. Ibid., p. 54.
- Ibid., p. 55: see also "The Unfinished Work of the USA." by De Vos. "Its Origin, Mission, And Destiny As Revealed in Its Unused Seal & The Holy Scriptures." New Age Pub. Co.. Coopersville. Mich.. 1921. p. 87.
- 13. Hunt, op. cit., pp. 56, 58.
- 14. De Vos, op. oit., p. 86.
- 15. Hunt. op. cit.. p. 61.
- 16. Totten, op. tit.. I, p. 71.
- 17. Ed. and Pub. of Divine Life Map,. (Independent Theosophical Soc. of Amer.), Chicago. 5/15/17. "The Reverse Side of the Seal of the United States and Its Symbolism," pp. 1, 7, 8, 9.
- Quoted by Theodore Heline in "America's Destiny A New Order of The Ages," New Age Press. Los Angeles. 19 H. p. 10.
- 10. Totten. op. cit.. II. p. 98.
- 20. "Mystic Americanism." by Grace Kincaid Morey, Eastern Star Pub. Co., E. Aurora, N. Y., 1924, p. 65.
- 21. Modern Mystic, August 1939. Washington. D. C. p. 307.
- 22. Ibid.. July 1939. p. 250.
- 23. Totten. op. cit.. I. p. 256: II. pp. 179, 194, 201. 203.
- 24. Correspondence Between Hon. Chas. J. Folger. See. of the Treasury, & Hon. A Loudon Snowden. Super, of the U.S. Mint. Relative to Striking a Medal in Commemoration of the Adoption of the Great Seal of the U. S., 2/19/82, 2/21/82 (Pub. 1885): see also Philadelphia Ledger, 6/24/82 & Totten, op. cit.. 1, p. 179.
- 25. Totten. op. cit.. I. p. 140: II. p. 179.
- 26. Ibid., II, pp, 179,186.

- 27. Ibid., I, p. 218.
- 28. Ibid., pp. 137, 138.
- 29. Sept. 1786; see also Totten, op. cit., 1, p. 13.
- 30. Totten, op. cit., I, p. 146.
- 31. Ibid., p. 152.
- 32. Ibid., II, p. 191.
- 33. 11/25/82, p. 739.
- 34. Totten, op. cit., I, p. 161.
- 35. Hunt, op. cit., p. 41.
- 36. Totten, op. cit., I, p. 246.
- 37. Ibid., II, p. 72.
- 38. Ibid., I, p. 255.
- 40. Ibid., p. 146.
- 41. "The Heraldry of Heroism," by Arthur E. Du Bois, National Geographic Magazine, 1943, Plate 1 and p. 414.
- 42. Totten, op. cit., II, pp. 310-312.
- 43. Lempriere's "Classical Dictionary," E. P. Dutton & Co., 1949, p. 301.
- 44. Ibid., p. 561.
- 45. Totten, op. cit, II, p. 312.
- 46. Ibid., pp. 315, 316.
- 47. Ibid., p. 253.
- 48. Also, "The History of Ancient Egypt," in 2 vols. by Geo. Rawlinson, all 5 vols. pub. by The Nottingham Society, 2nd Ed., 1880.
- 49. Ibid., Vol. II, Medea, Babylonia, Persia, p. 229.
- 50. Ibid., Vol. I, Chaldea, Assyria, pp. 83, 84.
- 51. Ibid., pp. 72-74, 79, 82.
- 52. Lempriere, op. cit., p. 105.
- 53. Rawlinson, op. cit., I, Chaldea, Assyria, pp. 79, 80.
- 54. Ibid., I, "History of Ancient Egypt," pp. 150, 163.
- 55. Ibid., pp. 168, 169.
- 56. Ibid., pp. 187, 188.
- Ibid., pp. 58, 169, 184; Lempriere, op. cit., pp. 132, 470; "An Encyclopedia of Freemasonry," by Albert G. Mackey, N. Y., 1900, pp. 242, 243, 577.
- 58. Mackey, op. cit., p. 288.
- 59. "Secret Destiny of America," by Manly Palmer Hall, Theosophical Research Society, Los Angeles, 1950, pp. 177-181.
- 60. Lempriere, op. cit., p. 561.
- 61. "The Encircled Serpent," by M. Oldfield Howey, David McKay Co., Philadelphia, 192-, pp. 17, 19.
- 62. Ibid., pp. 23, 25, 29-31.
- 63. Ibid., pp. 71, 72, 74, 76, 81, 84.
- 64. Mackey, op. cit., p. 137.
- 65. Time Magazine, April 4, 1955, p. 22, and March 5,1956, p. 33; New York Herald Tribune, November 16, 1963, pp. 1, 2.



## PART III

## The Prayer Room In The United States Capitol

The Laymen's Movement's publication, Christian Laymen, May-June 1955, contained an article on the Prayer Room in the United States Capitol, which provided the information that Congressman Brooks Hays of Arkansas had attended a Laymen's Movement conference in 1952. He told the conference that he intended to introduce a resolution in Congress calling for the establishment of a prayer room in the Capitol. The Movement threw its weight behind the resolution and sent a mailing on the subject to 7500 of its Prayer Call supporters. An estimated 2500 letters to Congress resulted from this mailing. This pressure had its e0ect; opposition to the project was overcome in Congress. Weyman C. Huckabee, Secretary of the Movement, and Brooks Hays, were the first persons to use the facilities of the Prayer Room when it was opened in March 1955.

Senator Mike Monroney of Oklahoma introduced a companion resolution (Conc. Res. 14) to that offered by Congressman Hays (Conc. Res. 60), calling for the setting apart of a place for a prayer room (see The Prayer Room in the United States Capitol. House Document 234, 84th Congress, 1st Session). The Room is located on the House Side of the Capitol near the Rotunda. Delos H. Smith and Joseph W. Burcham, Architects of Washington, D.C., served as architectural consultants. "It was a first essential to make sure that no part of the furnishings and no symbol used would give offense to members of any church." To make certain that this did not occur an advisory panel was constituted, the members of which were the chaplains of the House and Senate, the Assistant Chancellor of the Archdiocese of Washington, and the Minister of the Symbols have met with the unanimous approval of the four."

According to the Brooklyn Tablet, April 2, 1955, "a scroll was eliminated from the original window design on the ground that it might have been regarded as a symbol" of a particular faith. The advisory group felt that "the decor should have a wholly non-denominational character." In spite of this advice, the two candelabra were placed on either side of the altar, even though they are traditionally associated with a specific faith.

The lighting in this meditation room is subdued. A concealed ceiling light focuses on [he white oak altar, as in the U.N.'s room. There are ten chairs facing the altar, as in the U.N.'s room. "When illumined by the indirect lights of the shielded wall brackets, the room is a soft color symphony of blue and gold."

The stained glass window is cluttered and uninspiring. It was presented anonymously to the Prayer Room by the craftsmen in a studio in the Twentyfirst Congressional District of California. Its central figure is that of the kneeling George Washington. In the medallion immediately surrounding the central figure, woven into the ruby glass, is the text from Psalm 16:1. Extending out from behind the figure are the four arms of one of the ancient forms of the Mystic Tau Cross: the X (see Part I). The most striking feature of the entire window with its clutter of shapes and designs is the depiction of the reverse side of the Great Seal at the top of the medaliion above the phrase from Lincoln's Gettysburg Address, "This Nation Under God." The obverse side of the Great Seal, with its Solomonic Crest, is at the bottom of the window.

The appearance of these occult symbols in such a religious setting, in the very heart of the Capitol, cannot be ascribed to chance. The direct participation of the Laymen's Movement in the establishment of the room provides a guarantee that the placement of the two sides of the Great Seal in the window was made with foreknowledge of their real meaning.

This window is described as "symbolizing our Nation at prayer" (H. Doc. 234, p. 31. It "speaks of that religious faith which has always been a part of the greatness of our Nation." The kneeling figure of Washington is placed there to remind us "of the words from his First Inaugural:

... it would be peculiarly improper to omit in this first official act, my fervent supplications to that Almighty Being who rules over the universe ...."

The two lower corners of the window each show the Holy Scriptures, an open book and a candle, signifying the light from God's law, "Thy Word is a lamp unto my feet and a light unto my path." Why was this particular quotation chosen? The terms "Word" and "light" have especially significant meanings in the occult lexicon. In the ancient mysteries of Egypt the Word "is said to have been the Tetragrammaton." (See source 9, Part I, p. 889.) "The connection of material light with... mental illumination was prominently exhibited in all the ancient systems of religion and esoteric mysteries. Among the Egyptians ... the symbol of moral illumination ... was also the symbol of Osiris." [Ibid., pp. 469-470.) These root-symbols are met with over and over again in all of the temples and designs used by the devotees of the "new" pagan cult.

[Persons involved in the establishment and decoration of the Prayer Room, in addition to those already named, were: the Senate Chaplain, Rev. Frederick Brown Harris; the House Chaplain, Rev. Bernard Braskamp; the Asst. Chancellor of the Archdiocese of Washington. Father Edward J. Herrmann ; the Minister of the Washington Hebrew Congregation, Rabbi Norman Gerstenfeld; Representative Edgar W. Hiestand, who arranged for the gift of the mosaic window: Representatives Karl M. LeCompte of Iowa and Katharine St. George of New York, members of a committee which allegedly arranged for the design and equipment of the room; and the Architect of the Capitol, J. George Stewart. Representatives Hiestand and LeCompte are no longer in Congress.]

## PART IV

# The Temple Of Understanding



### By Edith Kermit Roosevelt

A temple will be erected in Washington, D. C., for "the citizen of the world" to develop "universal understanding" in place of his "nationalist limitations."

Planners for this \$5 million edifice, called "The Temple of Understanding," say endorsers include Swami Prabhavananda of the Vedanda Society, Hollywood; Secretary of Defense Robert S. McNamara, Socialist leader Norman Thomas, Chester Bowles, special advisor to the President; Swami Bhaskaranand Paramhamsa of "UNISM," New Delhi, India; Thomas B. Watson, president of International Business Machines; Eleanor Roosevelt, the United Lodge of Theosophists, New York City, and others.

The futuristic building, char-minister, Federation of Rhoacterized as a "spiritual UN" desia and Nyasaland; Rev. Fred will be a "symbol of the broth- Jordan, president, International will be a "symbol of the broth- sorialists, president, international erhood and sisterhood of ps. Linnik, director Universal mankind," according to the Brotherhood Center, Glen mankind," according to the Brotherhood Center, Glen brochure issued from Temple Cove, Long Island, N. Y.; James headquarters, Greenwich, Conn. A. Linen, president Time-Life A wing of this modern-day Inc., and S. A. Mohamed, cul-Tower of Babel will be accord- arab Republic, Washington, D. ed to each of the six internet. ed to each of the six interna- C.

tional faiths: Hinduism, Juda-

A "world publicity campaign" ism, Buddhism, Confucianism, for donations is being launched. Christianity and Islam. The names of the donors are to be enscribed on the stone

. AMONG OTHER endorsers walks of the temple.

listed are Jack Benny, Douglas MacArthur II, ambassador to THE SYMBOLISM planned Japan: Max Lerner of the New for the building dates back to York Post, Prof. J. B. Rhine of the black magic practiced by Duke University; Roland Gam. the high priests of ancient mon of the Laymen's. Move-Egypt. The building will con-ment and World Parliament of tain a giant eye — a circular Poligions: Mignel Vdiggers pool of water which reflects Religions; Miguel Ydigoras pool of water which reflects Fuentes, president of Guate-mala; Sir Roy Welensky, prime

colored diamond. The temple pagan stone as an altar to unibrochure states: -

"The dome will be illuminated all night in order to indicate, symbolically, that even while the world sleeps, the light of understanding continues to shine." . .

WHILE TEMPLE publicists proclaim the idea for the temple arose quite spontaneously out of a talk between two women friends, shrines for "the brotherhood of man" have been systematically used throughout history to create a mystique of collectivity.

Money was raised to build a similar shrine in London by the occultist, the late Mrs. An nie Besant. A sort of Eleanor Roosevelt of her day, Mrs. Besant worked closely with Nehru and Krishna Menon and was a founder of the Fabian Parliamentary League, a British socialist group in which Sidney Webb, Hubert Land, H. H. Champion and George Bernard Shaw were active. \* \* \*

MRS. BESANT'S temple featured six symbolic presentations of the six great international faiths in the lecture hall. Visiting "adepts" contemplated a mural of a six-pointed Theosophical star made of two interlocking triangles connected by a serpent.

This theme is repeated in the "Temple of Understanding." The brochure informs us that the temple's six wings "will contain the cultural facets of the 'diamond of truth.'

IN NEW YORK CITY the "Friends of the Meditation Room" have long met regularly in the United Nations' Mcditation Room. In the center of this shrine a beam of light plays on polished ore. On April 24, 1957, when the Meditation Room was reopened, the late Dag Hammarskjold, UN Secrelary General, described this

versal religion.

"The altar is the symbol of the God of all," he said.

The Temple of Understanding also will have its meditation room, to be known as the "Hall of Illumination." There, it is planned that the Illuminati. Masters of Wisdom, Our Leaders of the Temple of Understanding, will train the public in the new humanistic cult.

Meetings, film showings and courses of study in the world's great religions will be held in the "Hall of Illumination."

IT IS INTERESTING to note that for some time now a group who call themselves "the New Group of World Servers" have been holding "full moon meditation meetings" at the Car-negie Endowment International Centre in New York. On Dec. 21, 1961, this writer attended one of these meetings where pamphlets were distributed describing "the New World Religion." One "World Goodwill" booklet described what some of the backers of "The Temple of Understanding" may have in mind.

"A new type of mystic is coming to be recognized . . . he is distinguished by his lack of interest in his own personal development, by his ability to see God immanent in all faiths and not just in his own brand of religious beliefs.

WHERE THE internationalist would-be elite gather to plan and plot world government I heard a determined group of "World Servers" led by Foster Bailey chant in unison their eerie Great Invocation.

"Let purpose guide the little wills of men-

"The purpose which the

Masters know and serve." Is the real purpose of the world-minded Masters of Unism to guide and control us by pagan rites?

[Permission granted to reprint by Edith Kermit Roosevelt Syndicate Suite N 824, 800 Fourth St., S.W. Washington 24, D.C.]



#### By Edith Kermit Roosevelt

Unwrapping her gauzy veils a "White Madonna" danced on the podium. She symbolized "Christianity" or the "Mother of the World encompassing forms of the creative feminine spirit which has unfolded over centuries from Egypt, Babylonia, China and Europe," said a program distributed at the Temple of Understanding's benefit dinner.

this dramatic skit on "Chris-tianity" and five other skits on the major faiths to commemo-rate the \$5,000,000 Temple to be built on 50 be built on 50 acres by the Potomac River, Washington, D.

The Temple brochure describes the edifice as a "Spirit-ual United Nations" designed to fulfill the rituals of the six major faiths and replace "nationalist limitations" with "universal understanding" for "citizens of the world!"

. . . PUBLICISTS for this tax-exempt "Project Understanding" claim support from the "pennies donated by hairdressers, taxicab drivers and workers all over the world." But judging from the Temple's printed list of sponsors it can count on more influential backing. For instance:

Rt. Rev. James A. Pike of San Francisco, Cary Grant, Defense ther side. Secretary Robert S. McNamara, a founding member of the Fund for the Republic's Center for Democratic Institutions; mili-appeal of the internationalist tant pacifist and Nobel Peace dream. For example, one of Prize winner Philip Noel Baker: the Temple sponsors is Roland Holland D. Roberts of the Aca- Gammon, former director of demic Freedom Committee, a the Laymen's Movement, World

The dinner, held Oct. 12 at party's California Labor School the Waldorf Astoria, featured who was identified as a "party this dramatic skit on "Chris-member" at a Jan. 22, 1956 hearing of the Subversive Activities Control Board; U. Alexis Johnson, deputy undersecretary of state for political af-fairs; Sen. Kenneth B. Keating (R.N.Y.), Prof. Pitirim A. Soro kin, director of Harvard University's Research Center for Creative Altruism and Brooks Hays, special assistant to President Kennedy.

AT THE WALDORF'S Star-light Roof I heard Mrs. Dickerman Hollister, president of the Temple of Understanding (P. O. Box 191, Greenwich, Conn.), address some 500 UN delegates and socialites. In a voice choked with fervor, she said:

"We are sending an idea to create a global symbol of the world."

Then she struck with a wand John D. Rockefeller IV, So-cialist leader Norman Thomas, Out popped a "magic" golden tree with six branches on ei-

THE SYMBOLISM is not surprising in view of the mystic former head of the Communist Parliament of Religions.' This international, non - sectarian group of big businessmen, psvchiatrists and other professional men meet in the seclusion of Wainwright House, Milton Point, Rye, N. Y., to study scientific mind control.

I secured the texts of some of the Wainwright House seminars which treat of such topics as "clairvoyance," "auto-matic writing," "hallucinations." "religion as part of an enlarged science" and "the psychic content of the alchemical symbols."

According to this year's Sept.-Oct. issue of the Laymen's Review published at Wainwright House, the Move-ment "spearheaded" the establishment of the UN Meditations Room which happens to

contain some of those "alchemical symbols." . .

\*

THE UN MEDITATION Room mural is divided into 72 separate sections-the tetrag- W. 42nd St., N. Y.) The inter-gram: on or Divine Name of national Lucis Trust network, 72 w .: ds. It depicts triangles which has substantial financial and pyramids representing backing, regularly holds "Full "the deity" in accordance with Moon Meditation Meetings" at the ancient Babylonian symbols. Also a part of this mur- International Peace to promote al is a spiral figure intertwining with a diagonal line which Religion." may represent Hermes' wand, 2. Prof. the Cadeuces, traditional sym- the Geologic Museum, Cambol of the sex forces or Kunda- bridge, Mass., who has served lini

The mural's center sphere and outer circle roughly form wright House. an eye. The "all seeing eye" of the deity theme is to be repeated in the Temple building is Rev. Lee H. Ball, executive by a glass eye faceted like a secretary of the Methodist diamond to reflect the rays of Federation for Social Action,

. . .

that the Interparliamentary low, former secretary of the Union-Temple of Understandumns for the six continents to for Communist purposes." show the Universality of the Shouldn't they add the ham-Union." The IPU, which has mer and sickle symbol to the

consists of a training corps of legislators who meet regularly with their Communist "counterparts" to set up world parliamentary government.

. . .

WHILE SOME PEOPLE may dismiss these humanistic temples as another example of "goofy" internationalism, apologists for Moscow view them as a serious component in their drive to promote the "Social Gospel."

TWO TEMPLE sponsors are included in the Senate 'Internal Security's "list of the most typical sponsors of front organizations" published April 23, 1956. They are:

1. Jerome Davis, New Haven, Conn., educator who heads Promoting Enduring Peace, 3 group whose literature is distributed by the Arcane School (operated by the tax-exempt "non-political" Lucis Trust on the 32nd and 33rd floors of 11 the Carnegie Endowment for UNESCO and the "New World

2. Prof. Kirtley Mather of on a 4-man panel evaluating "physical research" at Wain-

**ANOTHER TEMPLE** backer the sun through the six wings, an organization cited as a front by the Senate Internal Security Subcommittee on April 23, IT IS INTERESTING to note 1956. On July 7, 1953, Ben Git-Communist party, testified uning sponsor Sen. Keating is IPU secretary—adopted a few weeks ago as its emblem: "A volved in the Communist con-Temple of Law with six col- spiracy to subvert the church

Union. The IFO, which has mer and sickle symbol to the been financed in part by the second "Meditation Room" tax-exempt Carnegie Endow-slated for the new Washington ment for International Peace, Temple?

[Permission granted to reprint by Edith Kermit Roosevelt Syndicate Suite N 824, 800 Fourth St., S.W., Washington 24, D.C.]

Edith Kermit Roosevelt's marvelous columns on "The Temple of Understanding" focused nation-wide attention on this project for the erection of a "spiritual UN" in our Nation's Capitol. The Temple brochure referred to by Miss Roosevelt states (page 2) that each of the six wings radiating from the central dome of the Temple "will contain a small chapel which, designed in accordance with the requirements of the religion it represents, and using the appropriate symbols, will illustrate its mode of worship.

"To the right of each chapel, or wing, will be a combined library and reading room. The books in this adjacent library will cover the main currents of thought of the particular religion, including its various branches."

And, "beneath the main floor of the Temple . . . will be a Center of Understanding. . .. Here courses of study in the world's great religions will be given on both the student and layman level... . This downstairs area will serve children as well as adults and will be planned, acoustically, to protect the atmosphere of quiet in the great central Hall above."

In spite of the emphasis on religion as such in the description given above, the brochure contains a disclaimer: "The Temple is not to be used as a house of worship, but as an educational edifice." (Emphasis supplied in brochure.) It also stales that "in no way will this project, or those connected with it, seek to proselytize any one religion." Both of these statements need interpretation. A temple is an edifice dedicated to the service of a god. According to Curt John Witt, author of an article on the Temple reprinted from volume two, number one of TRIAD and "Main Currents of Modern Thought" (available at the Temple Information Center, 66 West Putnam Avenue, Greenwich, Connecticut; telephone TO 9-5054), "the upper level of the Temple of Understanding will center around a reflecting pool of water. This inner pool, surrounded by benches, will be designed for meditation and prayer. It will be kept completely quiet at all times, and be known as the 'Hall of Illumination.'" (Emphasis supplied.)

Is the Temple to be used as a place of worship or is it not? The statements cited are contradictory. Actually, common sense tells us that the intent of the Temple's founders is that religious worship shall be practiced in the building, but not in a form acceptable to any of the leaders of the world's great religions. Any claim made at this time by the backers of the Temple that it will indeed be a propaganda center and place of worship according to the tenets of a NEW WORLD RELIGION dedicated to the creation of a Universal Theocratic State would be unpalatable to the public and therefore premature. Edith Kermit Roosevelt has probed deeply into the make-up of the international apparatus which has been working to set up such a State. Her column on the subject dated October 28, 1962, follows:

### BETWEEN THE LINES

by Edith Kermit Roosevelt

#### THE UNIVERSAL THEOCRATIC STATE

An international apparatus is working to set up a Universal Theocratic State.

Already the high priests, prayers and temples of the universal cull are with us. Curriculums are being drafted to indoctrinate our children in what John D. Rockefeller, Jr. calls "the church of ail people."

The first step is to break down loyalty to a single religious faith. In June 1959 the Women's International Religious Fellowship (WIRF) was founded by representatives from 11 nations. This group composed of mothers of different faiths meet at bazaars and picnics so their children may share national dishes and learn the dances of foreign lands. Their meetings feature talks on Jainism, Taoism, Zoroastrianism, Hinduism, Sikhism and the five other major world faiths, according to literature distributed by WIRF head-quarters, 1601 Webster St., N.W., Washington, D.C.

Participants in WIRF programs have included representatives from the embassies as well as Mrs. Marietta Free, American delegate to the United Nation's Human Rights Commission.

Plans are being made to set up regional World Universities whose objectives would include "to instruct in all religions but will not make religion its aim," "build a world outlook" and "teach the physiological, psychological and spiritual aspects of sex."

John Howard Zitko, D.D., is coordinator of this World University Development Program I P.O. Box 68, Huntington Park, Calif.) He is also the author of a book on the Lemurian Theo-Christian Conference which warns that "advanced intelligences on other planets of our solar system are again becoming active in human affairs after a lapse of some ten thousand years."

Dr. Zitko's idea has received a boost from key World Leaders. On July 31, 1962 Dwight D. Eisenhower endorsed setting up a World University to provide "World Thinkers" to funnel into the United Nations. Carl F. Stover, director of science and technology at the Fund for the Republic's Center for Democratic Institutions, Santa Barbara, Calif., gave the principal address at Dr. Zitko's 15th World University Roundtable Conference on August 11 of this year. Incidentally, a founding member of the Santa Barbara Center is Defense Secretary Robert S. McNamara who along with Dr. Zitko is a sponsor of the Temple of Understanding, the 85,000,000 "Spiritual UN" for the six major faiths.

Like all world government projects the Temple's "Project of Understanding" just happens to coincide with a similar drive in Great Britain where fabian socialism was hatched under the wing of theosophy.

Implementing Britain's 1944 Education Act for teaching "comparative religion" a pilot project has been set up to take nine and ten-year-old children in a state school to hear informal talks by various ministers of different faiths.

The children were required to write essays on these interfaith experiences. The native exponents of Hinduism, Islam and Buddhism visited the school to further the cause of "east-west understanding." They lectured the students to "take their education in tolerance a step farther," reports London educator Bernard Cousin in the June, July, Aug., 1062 issue of the Voice Universal, chief organ for "Theocratic Union" (Published at 8 Watling Rd., Southwick, Brighton, Sussex, England.)

The Dec. 1961, Jan., Feb., 1962 issue of the Voice Universal features an international prayer or "Invocation of the United Nations," which our rulers may wish to substitute for the Christian prayers no longer permitted in our schools. It reads in part:

"May the Peace and the Blessing of the Holy Ones pour forth over the worlds — rest upon the United Nations, on the work and the workers ...

"May the chalice the United Nations is building become a focal point for the descent of spiritual force . ..

"May the consciousness of the United Nations become ever more at-one, the many lights One Light in the Light of the Self."

Will the new Universal cult take root among the peoples of the world? If so, probably not for long. No faith based on man-made institutions can survive. Nevertheless, since the days of the "Mystic Temples" of the Greek Eieusinian mysteries "Wisdom" cults have been used as a means of recruitment for revolutionary groups as well as to influence politicians and statesmen at the highest level. Remember Rudolph Steiner and Kaiser Wilhelm and, more recently, former vice-president Henry A. Wallace and his guru Nicholas Roerich?

Recognizing the "goofy network" to be a source of power and influence, UN officials lecture at meetings of the Arcane School, the international "group of New World Servers," who form "Triangles" to work for UNESCO.

A few months ago Dr. Huston Smith, professor of philosophy at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology — a sponsor of the Temple of Understanding (P.O. Box 191, Greenwich, Conn.)—visited Sydney, Australia and lectured on "Is a New World Religion Coming" at the Blavatsky Lodge.

The name Blavatsky refers to the late Madame Helena Petrovna Blavatsky, the Russian cult leader known as "H.P.B." whose writings are used in the secret courses of instruction at the Arcane School (with offices at 11 W. 42nd St., New York 36, N.Y.)

In a moment of frankness, Madame Blavatsky explained the influence of magic on history:

"What is one to do, when in order to rule men, it is necessary lo deceive them? ... For almost invariably the more simple, the more silly, and the more gross the phenomenon, the more likely is it to succeed."

> (Copyright 1962 by Edith Kermit Roosevelt Syndicate) [Permission granted to reprint by Edith Kermit Roosevelt Syndicate Suite N 824, 800 Fourth St., S.W., Washington 24, D.C.]

The reader will note, if he will examine the pictures of the models of the Temple on the back cover, that the building is constructed entirely according to a geometric pattern based on triangular and pyramidal forms. Even the "chapels" are triangular shaped, with the tip of the triangle cut off, as seen in all representations of the pyramid and the "floating eye." Viewed from above, the main building is constructed in the form of a six-pointed star, the symbol formed by two interlocking triangles, the Seal of Solomon.

Juliet Hollister.\* author of a second article in TRIAD on the Temple, wrote that the Temple "should he of glass faceted like a diamond to let in all the sun, symbolic of the light of spiritual knowledge, and [his in turn should be caught in a pool, so that within the very heart of the building, there would be a quiet focus of light. Even at night this diamond "ill glow and shine. . . . From this central dome will radiate six wings, like rays of the sun, each the home of one of the great living religions of the world." The pagan symbolism should not be lost to the reader. ["See as Judith elsewhere.]

Juliet Hollister,\* equipped with the design of the Temple executed by the architect, Lathrop Douglas, approached Eleanor Roosevelt for her aid in planning the creation of the real Temple. She wrote that it was Mrs. Roosevelt "who suggested a trip around the world, in order to awaken the interest and enlist the support of religious leaders and heads of states."... Let the peoples of the world create this building, she said, and then it will belong to the whole world: It will be a Spiritual United Nations.

"This was the real beginning of our venture. I took Mrs. [Eleanor] Roosevelt's good advice; I visited our Embassy to the United Nations and I talked also with many other U.N. representatives. I went to Washington, and spent many hours in the State Department, in Senator [J. W.] Fulbright's office, the USIA, the Voice of America, and elsewhere."

Curt John Witt wrote that "the cultural center ... below the upper (or religious) level of the building ... will be for the use of the Washington Embassies.... It will be known as the 'Hall of Nations.' " The latest brochure issued by the Temple states that "land near the Great Falls of the Potomac ... is now being given by a generous donor. Here the building will be surrounded by an extensive park." Miss Margaret Johnson is the donor.

But why should this woman be allowed to donate this land for such a purpose? The House and Senate Committees on the District of Columbia headed by Representative John L. McMillan of South Carolina and Senator Alan Bible of Nevada have the power to deny the Temple's officers the right to erect such a pagan temple in the Nation's Capitol. Legislation can be originated to forbid such an enterprise. Hearings can be held which would allow the citizenry to be heard concerning this mailer. The time to stop thia project is now — before the Temple of Understanding becomes a reality. A national campaign to finance the Temple began on February 1, 1964.

The sponsors and backers of the Temple are many and powerful. The latest (1963) list of sponsors which is reprinted herein lists some 385 foreign endorsers and 1,375 Americans. The list is amazing. It contains eight American Ambassadors; fourteen Ambassadors to the United Slates; the Secretary of Defense of the United States. Robert Strange McNamara; Brooks Hays, Special Assistant to the President (associated with the Laymen's Movement

and author of the resolution creating the Prayer Room); the Deputy Under Secretary of State for Political Affairs, U. Alexis Johnson; Assistant Secretary of State Robert F. Woodward: many Embassy, USAID, USIA, and other government officials: the President and Vice-President of India: other Presidents and Prime Ministers; the Buddhist Pope; members of the World Court; the Governors of Maryland and Oklahoma; Senators Kenneth Keating and John Sherman Cooper: the President of CBS News and the Vice-President of NBC; the President of Time, Life, Inc. and the President of the Herald Tribune; the President of Paramount Pictures; officials of the Theosophical Society, World Union, World Brotherhood, International Spiritualists, Vedanta Society, and the cited Fellowship of Reconciliation; identified members of the Communist Party and many long-time Communist-fronters (see E.K.R. columns); the head of the Socialist Party, Norman Thomas; financiers such as John D. Rockefeller IV; lawyers like Eustace Seligman of Sullivan and Cromwell; religious figures: Ralph W. Sockman, James A. Pike, Maurice N. Eisendrath, Henry P. Van Dusen, and Nelson Glueck; industrialists: Thomas B. Watson, Jr., President of IBM, and Milton Mumford, President, Lever Brothers; celebrities: Steve Allen, Arthur Godfrey, Jackie Robinson, Faith Baldwin, Jack Benny, Cary Grant, Garry Moore, and Pearl Buck; Mrs. Cyrus S. Eaton, wife of the foremost Soviet apologist in the United States: and hundreds of others.

The latest Temple leaflet, "Six Rays of Hope—," relates how Mrs. Dickerman (Judith-Juliet) Hollister received "unofficial" help for her Temple project from William Nims of the Ford Foundation (her first contact); Wallace Irwin of the State Department (who placed her project under the protection of the religious officers of the department); Dr. Frank Graham of the U.N.; Thomas Watson of IBM; Ernest Lee Jahncke of NBC; Samuel Pryor of Pan-Am Airways; Mrs. Ellsworth Bunker, wife of the American Ambassador to India (who named the project the "Temple of Understanding"); and Rabbi Israel Goldstein, former president of the World Jewish Congress (the first member of the board of directors of the Temple).

On February 5, 1964, a few days after the national campaign to publicize and finance the Temple began, President Lyndon B. Johnson spoke to the annual Presidential prayer breakfast at the Mayflower Hotel. Several Cabinet members were present. Chief Justice Earl Warren headed the group from the judiciary. President Johnson said that "a fitting memorial to the God that made us all" should be established in Washington. He asked the several hundred participants lo take the lead in raising funds for a house of prayer that would be open to persons of all faiths at all times. (N.Y. Times, 2/6/64.) He did not make a direct reference to the Temple. Nevertheless, his statement was interpreted by Temple sponsors as pre-arranged support for their project, and as evidence of their immense influence in Washington.